

Retail Package & Office

Policy Wording

Version 1.0 November 2024



Arranged by
Toledo Insurance Solutions
Barclay House
2 - 3 Sir Alfred Owen Way
Caerphilly
CF83 3HU

CONTENTS

Regulatory Disclosure	4
Important Information	5
General Definitions	6
General Conditions	14
General Exclusions	22
SECTION 1 – PROPERTY ALL RISKS	26
Cover	26
Extensions to Section 1	26
Clauses	29
Basis of Settlement Clauses	29
Exclusions to Section 1	32
Endorsements	34
Conditions	35
Optional Covers if stated in schedule	37
Theft by Employees	38
Personal Accident (Assault)	39
All Risks on Portable Property	40
Deterioration of Stock	42
SECTION 2 – BUSINESS INTERRUPTION	44
Cover	44
Basis of Settlement	44
Clauses	45
Extensions to Section 2	46
Exclusions to Section 2	49
Additional Cover	50
Outstanding Debit Balances	50
SECTION 3 – EMPLOYERS LIABILITY	52
Section Definition	52
Cover	52
Limit of Indemnity	52
Extensions to Section 4	52
Exclusions to Section 4	54
Conditions	54
SECTION 4 – PUBLIC & PRODUCTS LIABILITY	55
Section Definitions	55

Cover	55
Limit of Indemnity	56
Extensions to Section 5	56
Exclusions to Section 5	59
Conditions	61
SECTION 6 – TERRORISM	63
Section Definitions	63
Cover	65
Exclusions to Section 6	66
Conditions	68
Notification & Claims Conditions	69
1. Claim Notification	69
2. Notifications	69
3. Conduct of claims	70
Complaints	71
Data Protection Notice	73

Regulatory Disclosure

This insurance is administered by Toledo Insurance Solutions and underwritten by Accelerant Insurance UK Limited

Moorhouse Group Limited trading as Toledo Insurance Solutions is registered in the UK and authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA number 308035).

This policy is underwritten by Accelerant Insurance UK Limited

Accelerant Insurance UK Limited is registered in England and Wales with company number 03326800 and has its registered office at One Fleet Place, London, England, EC4M 7WS.

Accelerant Insurance UK Limited is authorized by the Prudential Regulation Authority and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority and the Prudential Regulation Authority (Reference Number 207658).

Important Information

The Employers Liability (Compulsory Insurance) Regulations 1998 lay down certain obligations for employers and in particular the **Insured** should be aware of the following

Display of Certificates

The **Insurers** will provide the **Insured** with a Certificate of Employers Liability Insurance and this will state clearly the companies covered by it. The **Insured** must display either an original copy or make available a copy of the Certificate of Employers Liability Insurance in an electronic format at each **Premises** where the **Employees** can see it easily

Retention of Certificates

The Employers Liability (Compulsory Insurance Amendment) Regulations 2008 remove the requirement for the **Insured** to retain copies of Certificates of Employers Liability Insurance that have expired for at least 40 years. However it is still good business practice to retain the certificates because certain claims for example disease could be made many years after the disease is caused and if the insurers cannot be identified the **Insured** could be liable for payments

Using Personal Information

How we treat information about you and your rights under data protection legislation

In order to provide our insurance services, we (Toledo Insurance Solutions acting as a Data Controller) will process certain personal information about you. The type of information that we process will depend on our relationship with you. For example, you may be a Toledo Insurance Solutions policyholder, prospective policyholder or a third party making a claim under a Toledo Insurance Solutions insurance policy.

If you provide us with personal information about a third party, you should share this notice with them.

We will also collect different types of information depending upon the kind of insurance cover we are being asked to provide or the kind of claim we are being asked to assess or pay.

Some of the information we process may be classified as 'special category data', which is data that may contain information about physical or mental health, religious beliefs and criminal and disciplinary offences (including convictions).

Your personal information may be used in a number of ways including:

- considering an application for insurance,
- providing and administering an insurance policy,
- handling claims including claims validation,
- preventing and detecting fraud, including providing information to the relevant authorities.

Where relevant, we will share your information with other companies including insurance companies, third parties such as claims handlers, loss adjusters, reinsurers, fraud prevention agencies, service companies associated with our products, or as required by law (including providing the information to government or regulatory authorities). This may involve the transfer of your information to countries inside and outside the European Economic Area.

We may also use your personal information for marketing purposes, but only in accordance with your marketing preferences.

For more information about how we process your data and the rights you have, please click http://www.toledo.is.com/privacy

General Definitions

The following words or phrases have the same meaning wherever they appear, in bold, within this Policy.

Abuse

Any illegal or offensive act or omission that results in the maltreatment of a person including acts or omissions of a physical sexual verbal psychological emotional or financial nature

Act of Terrorism

Acts of persons acting on behalf of, or in connection with, any organisation which carries out activities directed towards the overthrowing or influencing, by force or violence, of His Majesty's government in the United Kingdom or any other government de jure or de facto

Ancillary Equipment

Air conditioning equipment generating equipment voltage regulating equipment temperature and humidity recording equipment electronic access equipment heat and smoke detection equipment gas flooding cylinders pipework and computer room partitioning used solely in connection with **Computer and Telecommunication Equipment**

Bodily Injury

- a) death injury disease or illness of any person
- b) i) mental injury
 - ii) mental anguish
 - iii) shock

that results in a recognisable psychiatric injury

Building(s)

The Building or Buildings at the risk address(es) stated in the Schedule including

- a) landlords fixtures and fittings therein and thereon
- b) outbuildings annexes and extensions
- c) walls gates fences canopies and signs
- d) surfaces and foundations of car parks yards roads pathways and pavements
- e) **Services** but not where insured under **Contents** (or where the designation under which such Property appears in the **Insured's** books would require such Property to be insured under **Contents**)
- f) foundations
- g) glass including framework alarm strips or fittings and lettering thereon

Business

The Business specified in the Schedule conducted solely from within the **Territorial Limits** including

- a) the ownership repair and maintenance of the **Premises**
- b) the provision of fire security and ambulance services at the **Premises**
- c) provision of first aid but excluding any first aid provided by any qualified medical practitioner or nurse
- d) private work undertaken by the **Insured's Employees** with the consent of the **Insured** for any director partner or senior official of the **Insured**
- e) the provision and management of sports social and welfare organisations by the **Insured** for the benefit of the **Insured's Employees**
- f) the sale or supply of food and drink to **Employees** or visitors

Business Hours

The period during which the **Premises** are actually occupied by the **Insured** and/or their **Employees** for **Business** Purposes

Compensation

Compensatory damages imposed by law including interest which may be awarded on such damages

Computer Fraud

The dishonest or fraudulent electronic transfer through the use of any computer system of Money securities or other property or any other pecuniary advantage or financial benefit to the deprivation of a Third Party

For the purposes of this definition

- Securities means negotiable and non-negotiable instruments or contracts representing either Money or other property
- Other Property means tangible property other than Money or Securities
- Money includes cash equivalents
- Computer Fraud does not include Computer Misuse

Computer Misuse

Deliberate or accidental misuse abuse or contamination or corruption of hardware equipment software programs data records or information in relation to any computer

Computer Misuse includes the modification destruction or theft of data or information entrusted to the **Insured** by the **Insured's** customers or suppliers that is held on the Computer or Telecommunication System

Computer Misuse does not include Denial of Access and Computer Fraud

Computer or Telecommunication Systems

Computer System and tapes disks CD's or other magnetic or optical storage devices and Ancillary Equipment that form part of a computer network owned leased or rented by the **Insured** or for which the **Insured** is legally responsible

Computer Records

All current and backup Computer Records excluding fixed disks and paper records of any description incorporating stored programs and information stored on them belonging to the **Insured** or leased hired or rented to the **Insured** and for which the **Insured** is legally responsible

Computer System

A computer or other equipment or component or system or item which processes stores transmits or receives Data

Computer Virus

A piece of code that is designed to corrupt and which has the effect of corrupting (and may destroy alter contaminate or degrade the integrity quality or performance of) data or any computer application software computer network or computer operating system and related software

Consequential Loss

Loss resulting from interruption or interference with the **Business** carried on by the **Insured** at the **Premises** in consequence of **Damage**

Contents

The contents of the **Buildings** used in connection with the **Business** belonging to the **Insured** or for which the **Insured** is legally responsible including

- a) patterns models moulds plans and designs
- b) **Deeds and Documents** subject to a maximum of £5,000 for any one loss but only where not more specifically insured under the **Deeds and Documents** item shown in the schedule

- c) trade samples or goods in trust held at **Premises**
- d) paintings or works of art subject to a maximum of £500 any one loss
- e) wines and spirits kept for entertainment purposes subject to a maximum of £500 for any one loss
- f) directors' partners' or **Employees'** personal effects clothing pedal cycles and tools unless otherwise insured subject to a maximum of £500 per person for any one loss
- g) visitors' personal belongings subject to a maximum of £500 for any one loss
- h) Services but not where insured under Buildings (or where the designation under which such Property appears in the Insured's books would require such Property to be insured under Buildings) but excluding Computer and Telecommunication Systems and Computer Records and any other Property more specifically insured

Cybermedia

The internet usenet any extranet the world wide web any web-site e-mail including any electronic bulletin board chatroom or newsgroup

Damage

Loss destruction of or damage to the **Property** insured

Data

Data of any sort whatever including without limitation tangible or intangible data and any programs or software bandwidth cryptographic keys databases documents domain names or network addresses or anything similar files interfaces metadata platforms processing capability storage media transaction gateways user credentials websites or any information whatever

Deeds and Documents

Documents manuscripts and business books for their value as stationary and materials and the cost of labour expended in writing up and/or reinstatement thereof or restoration if more economical

Defined Peril(s)

Fire lightning explosion earthquake aircraft or other aerial devices or articles dropped therefrom riot civil commotion strikers locked out workers persons taking part in labour disturbances malicious persons other than thieves storm flood escape of water or oil from any tank apparatus or pipe impact by any road vehicle or animal or any article dropped from a road vehicle

Denial of Access

The inability of a third party who is authorised by the **Insured** to

- a) gain access to the computer or telecommunication system or
- b) use the computer or telecommunication system to communicate with other computers or computer networks through the use of **Cybermedia** in a manner in which the third party is legally entitled

Denial of Service Attack

Any actions or instructions constructed or generated with the ability to damage, interfere with or otherwise affect the availability or performance of networks, network services, network connectivity or **Computer Systems Denial of Service Attacks** include, but are not limited to, the generation of excess traffic into network addresses, the exploitation of system or network weaknesses, the generation of excess or non-genuine traffic between and amongst networks and the procurement of such actions or instructions by other **Computer Systems**

Employee

- a) any person under a contract of service or apprenticeship with the **Insured** or
- b) any of the following persons whilst working for the Insured in connection with the Business
 - i. any labour master or labour only subcontractor or person supplied by them
 - ii. any self-employed person providing labour only
 - iii. any trainee or person undergoing work experience
 - iv. any voluntary helper

v. any person who is hired to or borrowed by the **Insured**

Excess

The amount for which the **Insured** is responsible for each and every claim or loss as specified in the Schedule or in the Policy

GDPR

Regulation EU 2016/679 as it forms part of the laws of England and Wales Scotland and Northern Ireland and any applicable legislation act or regulation adopted to enact the provisions of that Regulation including any equivalent or subsequent legislation act or regulation

Glass

Flat annealed fixed glass toughened and laminated glass stained glass illuminated signs and electric light fitments at the Business Premises

Goods in Transit

Stock in connection with the Business belonging to or the responsibility of the Insured whilst being

- a) loaded on or in a Vehicle
- b) carried by a Vehicle
- c) temporarily contained on or in a **Vehicle** whilst parked or stationary or within a secure storage location for a continuous period of no more than 48 hours
- d) unloaded off or from a **Vehicle** but excluding positioning installation commissioning or erection once it has been unloaded

Gross Revenue

The money paid or payable to the **Insured** for work carried out or services rendered in the course of the **Business** at the **Premises**

Hacking

Unauthorised access to any Computer System whether the property of the Insured or not

Increased Cost of Working

The additional expenditure incurred with the prior written consent of the **Insurers** for the sole purpose of avoiding or diminishing the reduction in **Turnover** which but for that expenditure would have taken place during the **Indemnity Period**

Indemnity Period

The period beginning with the occurrence of the **Damage** and ending not later than the **Maximum Indemnity Period** as stated in the Schedule afterwards during which the results of the **Business** shall be affected in consequence of the **Damage**

Injury

- a) **Bodily Injury**
- b) false arrest wrongful detention or false imprisonment or malicious prosecution of any person
- c) wrongful entry or eviction or other invasion of the right of private occupancy

Insured

The person persons or company named in the Schedule including subsidiary companies notified to and agreed as accepted by the **Insurers**

Insurer(s)

The Insurers as set out in the section of the Policy headed The Contract of Insurance and the Insurers

Loss of Limbs or Eyes

Physical Injury which solely and directly results in

- a) total loss or permanent and total loss of use of one or more limbs or
- b) total and irrecoverable loss of all sight in one or both eyes

Maximum Indemnity Period

The number of Months stated in the Schedule as applying to the Indemnity Period

Media

Any material on which Data or Programs are recorded

Money

Cash bank currency notes uncrossed cheques uncrossed postal orders and money orders unused postage stamps National Insurance stamps trading stamps luncheon vouchers lottery and other prize scratch cards utility vouchers top up cards mobile phone vouchers and International Phone Cards held in connection with the **Business** belonging to the **Insured** or for which the **Insured** is legally liable

Non-Negotiable Money

Crossed cheques crossed giro cheques crossed bankers' drafts crossed giro drafts crossed postal and crossed money orders national savings certificates premium bonds unexpired units in franking machines stamped national

insurance cards credit card sales vouchers debit card sales vouchers VAT purchase invoices held in connection with the **Business** belonging to the **Insured** or for which the **Insured** is legally liable

Offshore Installation

- a) any installation in the sea or tidal waters which is intended for underwater exploitation of mineral resources or exploration with a view to such exploitation
- b) any installation in the sea or tidal waters which is intended for the storage or recovery of gas or generation of electricity
- c) any pipe or system of pipes in the sea or tidal waters
- d) any accommodation installation for persons who work on or from the locations specified above

Permanent Total Disablement

Physical Injury not resulting in death or **Loss of Limbs or Eyes** which results in the permanent inability of the **Insured** or **Employee** to engage in any gainful employment

Phishing

Any access or attempted access to Data made by means of misrepresentation or deception

Physical Injury

Bodily injury by external violent and visible means sustained by the **Insured** or **Employee** in the course of the **Business** where such injury arises directly from assault

Pollution or Contamination

- a) all Pollution or Contamination of buildings or other structures or of water or land or the atmosphere and
- b) all Injury loss or Damage directly or indirectly caused by such Pollution or Contamination

All Pollution or Contamination which arises out of one incident shall be deemed to have occurred at the time such incident takes place

Premises

The Buildings and the land inside the boundaries at the risk address stated in the Schedule

Principal

Any person firm company ministry or authority for whom the **Insured** is undertaking work

Products Supplied

Any goods or other property including containers packaging labelling and instructions for use sold supplied delivered erected repaired serviced altered treated installed processed manufactured or tested by the **Insured** in connection with the **Business**

Program

A sequence of instructions given to a computer that is either purchased or written on a custom basis owned leased or rented by the Named Insured or for which the **Insured** is legally responsible

Property

- a) **Buildings Tenants' Improvements Contents Stock** and in respect of Section 1 of the Policy such other items to which cover is expressly extended in Section 1 of the Policy or Schedule or
- b) **Computer and Telecommunication Systems Computer Records** and in respect of Section 3 of the Policy such other items to which cover is expressly extended in Section 3 of the Policy or Schedule

The **Insurers** agree to accept the classification under which any Property has been entered in the books of the **Insured**

Reinstatement of Data

The reinstatement of Data following accidental loss distortion corruption or erasure of such Data

Reinstatement of Programs

The reinstatement of any Program following accidental loss distortion corruption or erasure of such Program

Rent

The money paid or payable by the **Insured** for accommodation and services provided (including service charges unless excluded by Endorsement) at the **Premises**

Rent Receivable

The money paid or payable to the **Insured** by tenants or lessees for accommodation and services provided in the course of the **Business** at the **Premises**

Safe/Strongroom

An item being of substantial construction with key and/or combination locks and manufactured for the secure storage of **Money** or **Non-Negotiable Money**

This does not include cash boxes tills filing cabinets or any item constructed of sheet metal whether lockable or not

Sanitary Ware

Wash basins lavatory pans or other sanitary fittings at the **Premises**

Services

Above ground and underground telephone gas water and electric installations fixed oil and diesel fuel tanks fixed liquefied petroleum gas tanks septic tanks cess pits drains sewers piping ducting cables wires fibre optic or integrated services digital network lines and associated control gear and accessories on the **Premises** and extending to the public mains but only to the extent of the **Insured's** responsibility

Specified Working Expenses

The total of

- a) purchases less discounts received
- b) discounts allowed
- c) carriage freight and packaging and
- d) bad debts

Standard Rent Receivable

The **Rent Receivable** during the period immediately before the date of the **Damage** which corresponds with the **Indemnity Period**

Standard Gross Revenue

For the purpose of a new business that has not yet been trading for 12 months

The proportional equivalent for a period equal to the **Indemnity Period** of the **Gross Revenue** realised during the period before the commencement of the **Business** and the date of the **Damage**

For all other businesses

The **Gross Revenue** during the period immediately before the date of the **Damage** which corresponds with the **Indemnity Period**

Stock

Stock and materials in trade including raw materials work in progress finished goods the property of the **Insured** and goods in trust for which the **Insured** is responsible including

- a) medical or pharmaceutical products in the surgery medical supplies and medical bags subject to a maximum £5,000 any one loss
- b) Precious metals subject to a maximum of £2,000 any one loss

Temporary Total Disablement

Physical Injury which results in the temporary inability of the **Insured** or **Employee** to engage in any gainful employment

Tenants' Improvements

All improvements alterations and decorations effected by or on behalf of the **Insured** as occupier of the **Premises**

Territorial Limits

Great Britain Northern Ireland the Isle of Man or the Channel Islands

Turnover

The money paid or payable to the **Insured** for **Products Supplied** and services rendered in the course of the **Business**

Unoccupied

Any **Building** or part of any **Building** which is empty or not in use by the **Insured** or any tenant of the **Insured** for more than 30 consecutive days

Vehicle

A mechanically driven conveyance with or without attached trailers for conveying the Goods in Transit

Working Hours

Working Hours means the whole period during which the **Vehicle** is being used by its driver in connection with the

Business including travel to and from the place of work and any break in such journey but shall not include when the Vehicle is parked for any overnight rest period	

General Conditions

The following general conditions apply to the whole of this Policy.

1. Misrepresentation and Fair Presentation

The **Insured** and anyone representing the **Insured** have a duty to provide a fair presentation of the risk A fair presentation is one which in a reasonably clear and accessible manner provides the material facts which the **Insured** knows or ought to know following a reasonable search Failing that the information provided must be sufficient to warn the **Insurers** that additional enquiries must be made to fully understand the risk The information provided must be substantially correct complete and made in good faith

If the **Insured** or anyone representing the **Insured**

- a) provides the Broker Intermediary or Agent who arranged the Policy or the **Insurers** with misleading incomplete or incorrect information when applying for amending or renewing this insurance
- b) deliberately and/or recklessly withholds information or misleads the Broker Intermediary or Agent who arranged the Policy or the **Insurers** in order to obtain cover or gain a cheaper premium or more favourable terms
- c) provides the Broker Intermediary or Agent who arranged the Policy or the Insurers with false documents

The **Insurers** may

- a) amend the **Insured's** Policy to record the correct information
- b) apply different terms (not relating to a higher premium) effective from the date of the misrepresentation. In which event the **Insured's** Policy will be amended to record the correct information and terms
- c) reduce proportionately the amount to be paid on a claim, where different terms relating to a higher premium would have been applied. In which event the **Insured** shall be considered as being their own insurer for the difference and shall bear a rateable share of a claim
- d) cancel the **Insured's** Policy in accordance with General Condition 6. Cancellation
- e) void the **Insured'**s Policy and treat it as if it had never existed and return the premium paid other than in circumstances of
 - i. deliberate and/or reckless misrepresentation where no premium shall be returned by the **Insurers**
 - ii. where the **Insured** has made claims under the Policy then
 - a. any sums that have been paid by way of benefit under the Policy will be deducted from any return premium due to the **Insured** or
 - b. in the event that the premium paid does not exceed the sums paid by way of benefit under the Policy the **Insured** will be responsible for reimbursing the **Insurers** the difference
- f) in addition to voiding the **Insured's** Policy the **Insurers** may also void any other policies which the **Insured** has with the **Insurers**. The premium paid for such policies will be returned other than in circumstances where
 - i. deliberate and/or reckless misrepresentation has also occurred on these policies, in which event, no premium shall be returned by the **Insurers**
 - ii. claims have also been made on these policies, in which event
 - a. any sums that have been paid by way of benefit under the Policy will be deducted from any return premium due to the **Insured** or
 - b. in the event that the premium paid does not exceed the sums paid by way of benefit under the Policy the **Insured** will be responsible for reimbursing the **Insurers** the difference

2. Fraud

If the **Insured** or anyone representing the **Insured**

- a) makes a fraudulent payment by bank account and/or card
- b) provides the Broker Intermediary or Agent who arranged the Policy or the **Insurers** with false documents or false statements to support a claim
- c) makes a claim or part of any claim that is fraudulent false or

exaggerated The Insurers may

- a) cancel the **Insured's** Policy and not return any premium paid by the **Insured** in accordance with General Condition 6. Cancellation
- b) reject a claim or reduce the amount of payment that would have been paid
- c) recover from the **Insured** any sums paid by way of benefit under the Policy in respect of any claim or part of any claim that is fraudulent, false or exaggerated
- d) pass details to fraud prevention and law enforcement agencies who may access and use this information

3. Reasonable Care

The **Insured** shall

- a) take all reasonable precautions to prevent or diminish loss destruction damage or injury take all reasonable steps to comply with statutory requirements obligations and regulations imposed by any authority
- b) exercise care in the selection and supervision of Employees
- c) maintain all **Buildings** ways works machinery and plant in sound condition

As soon as possible after discovery of any defect or danger the **Insured** shall cause such defect or danger to be made good or remedied and in the meantime shall cause such additional precautions to be taken as the circumstances require

4. Alteration

This Policy shall cease to be in force from the date of the alteration if

- a) any alteration is made either in the **Business** or at the **Premises** or to any **Property** insured after the commencement of the insurance that increases the risk of loss destruction damage or injury or
- b) the Insured's interest ceases except by will or operation of law or
- c) the Business is wound up or carried on by a liquidator or receiver or permanently discontinued or
- d) the **Premises** becomes unoccupied

unless the Insurers have agreed in writing to accept such alteration

5. Payment of

Premium It is a

condition that

- a) the premium for the Policy or any endorsement attaching to the Policy shall be paid when due
- b) if the premium for the Policy or endorsement is payable by instalments then
 - i. each instalment shall be paid when due or
 - ii. where a notice has been issued requiring the outstanding amount must be paid by a specific date then such payment is made by that date

6. Cancellation

- a) Cancellation by the **Insured**
 - i. Cooling off cancellation rights

The **Insured** has the right to cancel the insurance from inception within 14 days of the receipt of the documents at the start of the insurance or within 14 days of the start of the insurance whichever is later ("the cooling off period") if the cover does not meet their requirements by returning all documents and any certificate to the Broker Intermediary or Agent who arranged the Policy

The **Insurers** shall return any premium paid in full within 30 days of the receipt of the notice of cancellation from the Broker Intermediary or Agent if the cover is cancelled either

- a. before the inception date or
- b. within the 14 day cooling off period provided that no claim has been made or incident advised that could give rise to a claim

in these circumstances no return of premium will be made

ii. Cancelling the Policy after the cooling off period

The **Insured** may cancel the insurance at any other time by contacting the Broker Intermediary or Agent who arranged the Policy

On receipt of the notification from the Broker Intermediary or Agent the **Insurers** will cancel the Policy and provide a proportionate return of the premium in respect of the unexpired Period of Insurance provided that no claim has been made or incident advised that could give rise to a claim in these circumstances no return of premium will be made

b) Cancellation by the Insurers

i. Non-payment of Premium

If the **Insurers** have not received the premium in accordance with the terms of General Condition 5. Payment of Premium the **Insurers** will cancel the Policy by giving 7 days' notice in writing by letter to the **Insured** at the **Insured**'s last known address

The insurance will end immediately when the 7 days' notice runs out

If the **Insured** has just incepted the Policy or renewed the Policy with the **Insurers** and the premium is unpaid then the **Insurers** will cancel the insurance from the inception or renewal date

ii. Cancellation for any other reason

The **Insurers** may cancel the Policy or any section or endorsement by giving 30 days' notice in writing by letter to the **Insured** at the **Insured**'s last known address

The **Insurers** do not have to give a reason for the cancellation although valid reasons for doing so may include but are not limited to the following

- a. the **Insured** has not provided to the Broker Intermediary or Agent the information or documents the **Insurers** have requested as part of the terms and conditions in providing the insurance
- b. the **Insured** has not met the terms and conditions contained in this document of insurance including those shown on their Schedule
- where the **Insured** does not comply with any of the different Policy terms and conditions imposed by the **Insurers** as a result of the identification of misrepresentation as detailed in General Condition 1. Misrepresentation and Fair Presentation
- d. where an alteration is made to the Business the Premises or the Property or where the Insured's interest ceases unless agreed by the Insurers as detailed in General Condition 4. Alteration
- e. where the survey arranged by the **Insurers** has identified additional risks which were not evident to the **Insurers** prior to the survey or where the **Insured** have not complied with the **Insurers** acceptance criteria nor with the timely completion of any risk improvements as detailed in General Condition 16. Subject to Survey
- f. The **Insured** has behaved in a manner that makes it inappropriate for the **Insurers** to continue the insurance, e.g. the **Insured** harassing or showing abusive or threatening behaviour towards the **Insurers** staff or the **Insurers** appointed representatives

The insurance will end immediately when the 30 days' notice runs out

If the **Insured** has just incepted the Policy or renewed the Policy with the **Insurers** and the premium is unpaid then the **Insurers** will cancel the insurance from the inception or renewal date. The **Insurers** will provide a proportionate return of premium in respect of the unexpired Period of Insurance of the Policy or Section other than in circumstances listed below

- 1. where the **Insurers** identifies fraud as detailed in General Condition 2. Fraud
- where a claim has been made or incident advised that could give rise to a claim in these circumstances no premium shall be returned by the Insurers

7. Claims - Action by the **Insured**Special Definition

Letter of Claim or Claim Notification Form where used in this condition means any written communication

indicating an intention to claim against the **Insured** that specifies sufficient information about the incident to enable it to be investigated and includes at least preliminary information as to the nature of the injury or damage sustained and as defined in any protocols issued under the Civil Procedure Rules (or any amendments or supervening legislation)

- a) If circumstances should exist which may give rise to a claim under this Policy or on the happening of any Event the **Insured** shall as soon as possible give notice thereof to the **Insurers** in writing
- b) Subject to the provisions set out in sub paragraph (g) below in respect of third party liability claims the **Insured** shall acknowledge and provide a response as required in accordance with and within the time period fixed for that purpose in the relevant pre-action protocol issued under the Civil Procedure Rules and shall promptly forward a copy of the **Letter of Claim** or **Claim Notification Form** and any such response to the **Insurers**

Following receipt by the **Insured** of a pre-action **Letter of Claim** or **Claim Notification Form** in addition to the above the **Insured** shall as soon as possible provide to the **Insurers** copies of all documents records and minutes of meetings necessary to consider the claim fully The **Insured** shall also give to the **Insurers** all such proofs and information with respect to any claim as the **Insurers** may require together with (if demanded) a statutory declaration of the truth of such claim and of any matters relating thereto

- c) The **Insured** shall immediately forward every service of writ summons or claim form impending prosecution notice requiring arbitration notice of an inquest or fatal accident inquiry in connection with any such circumstance or Event aforesaid to the **Insurers** unacknowledged
- d) Other than as prescribed in (b)
 - (i) within seven days in the case of **Damage** caused by riot civil commotion strikers locked-out workers persons taking part in labour disturbances or malicious persons or
 - (ii) within thirty days in the case of any other circumstance or Event aforesaid or such further time as the **Insurers** may in writing allow the **Insured** shall give full particulars of the **Damage** circumstance or Event
- e) The **Insured** if required by the **Insurers** shall attend all proceedings and assist the **Insurers** in the giving of evidence and the attendance of witnesses and shall give the **Insurers** all information and assistance and do and concur in doing whatever the **Insurers** may require in connection with any circumstance event or claim
- f) The **Insured** shall bear its own costs and expenses under this Condition save to the extent that specific cover is provided within the Policy
- g) No admission offer promise payment or indemnity shall be made or given by or on behalf of the **Insured** without the written consent of the **Insurers**

8. Claims - Rights of the Insurers

The **Insurers** shall

- a) be entitled at any stage to take over the defence or settlement of any claim made upon the **Insured** by any other party and to prosecute for their own benefit any claim for indemnity or compensation against any other persons in respect of any event insured by the Policy and at no cost to the **Insurers** the **Insured** shall give all assistance as may be reasonably required by the **Insurers**
- b) have the right to enter the Premises where the Damage has occurred and to keep possession of any Property insured without thereby incurring any liability or diminishing any of the Insurers rights under the Policy and to deal with the salvage in a reasonable manner but the Insured shall not be entitled to abandon any Property to the Insurers
- c) at their option indemnify the **Insured** by payment reinstatement replacement or repair in respect of any **Property** lost or damaged or part thereof. If the **Insurers** elect to reinstate or replace any **Property** they shall not be bound to reinstate or replace exactly or completely but only as circumstances permit and in reasonably sufficient manner and shall not in any case be bound to expend in respect of any one of the items insured more than the Sum Insured thereon

9. Conditions

Every Condition to which the Policy or any part thereof is or may be subject shall from the time the Condition attaches apply and continue to be in force during the whole currency of the Policy and non-compliance with any such Condition insofar as it increases the risk of loss destruction or damage shall be a bar to any claim in respect of such loss destruction or damage provided that whenever the Policy is renewed a claim in respect of loss destruction or damage occurring during the renewal period shall not be barred by reason of a Condition not having been complied with any time before the commencement of such period

- 10. Contribution in respect of Sections 1, 2 and 3 (not applicable to Personal Accident (Assault))

 If in the event of **Damage** or liability under the Policy there shall be in force any other insurance effected by or on behalf of the **Insured** providing cover against such a claim
 - a) the liability of the Insurers shall be limited to their rateable proportion of such a claim
 - b) but which is subject to any provision excluding it from ranking concurrently with the Policy either in whole or in part or from contributing rateably to the claim then the liability of the **Insurers** shall be limited to such proportion of the claim as the Sum Insured bears to the value of the **Property**

11. Arbitration

If any difference shall arise between the **Insurers** and the **Insured** as to the amount to be paid under this Policy (liability being otherwise admitted) such difference (provided it does not concern the interpretation of the terms of the Policy) shall be referred to an arbitrator to be appointed by the parties in accordance with the statutory provisions for the time being in force

Where any difference is referred to arbitration the making of an award shall be a prerequisite to any right of action against the **Insurers**

12. Claims Co-operation

The **Insured** will provide all help and assistance and co-operation required by the **Insurers** and/or their appointed representatives in connection with any claim

13. Policy Interpretation

The parties to this contract agree that the Policy and any dispute concerning its interpretation or application is to be subject to and to be construed in accordance with the law of England and Wales (or Scottish law where the **Insured's** registered address is in Scotland)

Each party agrees (subject as provided in General Claims Condition 11 — Arbitration) to submit if required to the exclusive jurisdiction of any Court of competent jurisdiction within England and Wales (or Scotland where the proper law of the contract is Scottish) and to comply with all requirements necessary to give such Court exclusive jurisdiction

14. Observance of terms

Insured shall observe the terms of the Policy so far as they relate to anything to be done or complied with

15. Legal Representatives

In the event of the death of the **Insured** the **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured**'s legal personal representatives in respect of liability at law previously incurred by the **Insured** provided they observe fulfil and be subject to the terms conditions and limitations of the Policy to the extent that they can apply

16. Subject to Survey

If any insurance by the Policy either at inception or subsequent renewal has been granted subject to the completion of a survey of the **Premises** or if during the Period of Insurance following notification of a claim or an alteration to the **Business** or the **Premises** or to any **Property** under the Policy the **Insurers** require a

survey

- a) then pending completion of such survey the terms conditions exclusions and limits as specified in the Policy and Schedule shall apply
- b) if following completion of the survey and in the opinion of the **Insurers** this has identified additional risks which were not evident to the **Insurers** prior to the survey then the **Insurers** reserve the right to alter or amend the terms and conditions of the Policy or to suspend or withdraw cover immediately
- c) the continuation of cover after the survey by the **Insurers** shall be subject to the **Insured** complying with the **Insurers** acceptance criteria and the completion of any risk improvements required within the time frame agreed with the **Insurers** otherwise the **Insurers** may at their option invoke General Condition 6. Cancellation

17. Limit of Indemnity

All the Sums Insured Limits of Indemnity and any other restrictions on the amount of the **Insurers** liability stated in the Policy shall apply as maximum limits to the **Insurers** liability irrespective of the number of persons entitled to indemnity under the Policy

For the purposes of the Sums Insured Limits of Indemnity and any other restrictions on the amount of the **Insurers** liability the **Insured** and all other persons entitled to be indemnified under the Policy shall be treated as one party or legal entity so that there shall be only a single contract of insurance between the **Insurers** as one party and the **Insured** and all other persons entitled to be indemnified as the other party

18. Third Party Rights

A person or company who is not a party to the Policy has no right under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce any clause or term of the Policy but this does not affect any right or remedy of a third party which exists or is available apart from that Act

19. Assignment

The **Insured** shall not assign or transfer their rights under the Policy without the written agreement of the **Insurers**

20. Insureds Contribution

Where stated in the Schedule the **Insured** shall be responsible for paying an **Excess** in relation to each claim made by the **Insured** under this Policy

21. Abuse

In so far as indemnity is provided under Section 5 Public & Products Liability in respect of any legal liability or prosecution defence costs and expenses directly or indirectly resulting from caused by contributed to attributed to or in any way related to **Abuse** it is understood and agreed that

- any of the specified amounts detailed in the Schedule as limits of indemnity or the amount of any other limit stated in the Policy shall (where not already so stated) be the total amount payable in the aggregate in respect of all claims during any one Period of Insurance and which amount shall be inclusive of all claimants' and defence costs and expenses and prosecution defence costs and expenses to the extent indemnified for
- b) where legal liability is not attributable to a single identifiable event that occurs at a single fixed time and place then for the purpose of what constitutes one claim in respect of the provision of indemnity under this Policy all occurrences of **Abuse** suffered by any individual Third Party claimant committed during the Period of Insurance shall be considered individually as one claim
- c) for the purposes of this condition the reference to Period of Insurance in paragraphs a) and b) above shall include any period prior to the Period of Insurance where the insurance is subject to a retroactive date provision which relates to a period prior to the Period of Insurance during which any act or omission giving rise to indemnity under the insurance may have been committed
- d) the insurance provided by the Section 5 Public & Products Liability shall not indemnify
 - i. any medical or dental practitioner whomsoever or
 - ii. any other person who is an Insured against any legal liability or prosecution defence costs and

expenses directly or indirectly resulting from caused by contributed to attributed to or in any way related to **Abuse** committed by that individual person which is

- a) dishonest or criminal or fraudulent or
- b) the result of deliberate wrongdoing or recklessness

Indemnity shall continue to apply in respect of the **Insured's** vicarious liability for such acts of another person but not where **Abuse** arises out of acts or omissions authorised by the **Insured** or at the request of or with the approval of the **Insured** where such authorisation request or approval is dishonest or criminal or fraudulent or results from deliberate wrongdoing or recklessness

e) where indemnity is provided to indemnify the **Insured** for their vicarious liability for the acts of the person or persons committing such **Abuse** it is hereby noted and agreed with regard to the application of General Condition 23 Subrogation that the **Insurers** shall exercise such rights against any **Employee** committing such **Abuse** which is dishonest or criminal or fraudulent or the result of deliberate wrongdoing or recklessness

22. Sanctions

This Policy shall not be deemed to provide cover nor shall the **Insurers** have any liability to pay any claim or provide any benefit hereunder to the extent that the provision of such cover payment of such claim or provision of such benefit would expose the **Insurers** to any sanction prohibition or restriction under United Nations resolutions or the trade or economic sanctions laws or regulations of the European Union United Kingdom or United States of America

23. Subrogation

The **Insurers** shall be subrogated to all of the **Insured's** rights of recovery against any person or organisation before or after any claims payment under this insurance and the **Insured** shall provide all relevant information and assistance in this regard Any recovery made shall be applied first to the **Insurers** outlay and then to the **Insured's Excess** in priority to any outstanding uninsured loss of the **Insured** in the absence of agreement to the contrary

The **Insurers** shall not exercise such rights against any **Employee** unless the claim in question has been brought about or contributed to by the dishonest fraudulent criminal or malicious act error or omission of that **Employee**

24. Jurisdiction

Any indemnity provided by this Policy in respect of legal liability to pay **Compensation** (including claimants costs and expenses) shall operate in accordance with the law of any country but not in respect of any judgment award payment or settlement made within countries which operate under the laws of the United States of America or Canada (or to any order made anywhere in the world to enforce such judgement award payment or settlement either in whole or in part)

Provided that the indemnity provided by the Section 3 Employers' Liability where operative will not apply to any action for **Compensation** brought against the **Insured** in any court outside the European Union

25. Premium Adjustment

Where the premium for the Policy or any Policy Section is subject to a premium adjustment the **Insured** shall within one month of the expiry of the Period of Insurance forward to the **Insurers** such information as the **Insurers** may require. The **Insurers** shall thereupon adjust the premium subject to any minimum premium specified by the **Insurers**

26. Unoccupied Buildings

When any **Building** or portion thereof becomes **Unoccupied**

a) the **Insured** must give immediate notice in writing to the **Insurers** of such unoccupancy and when any **Building** or portion thereof becomes re-occupied

- b) the **Insured** or their authorised representative will
 - ensure all the main services are turned off or disconnected (except the electricity supply to maintain any fire or intruder alarm system) to that portion of the **Premises** which are **Unoccupied** or
 - ii. as an alternative to b) i. above leave the main services turned on to keep the central heating system working at a minimum temperature of 5°c during the period 1st October to 1st April each year always
 - provided that outside this period condition b) i. will apply
 - iii. carry out a thorough inspection of the **Premises** on at least a weekly basis and carry out immediately any work necessary to maintain the security of the **Premises**
 - iv. remove all refuse and waste materials from the **Premises** following such inspection
 - v. maintain a written record of such inspections
 - vi. ensure the **Premises** are secured against unlawful entry

Special Provision

Where the **Insured** or their authorised representative comply with paragraph b) ii. of this condition during the period from 1st October to 1st April each year the **Insurers** will not apply Section 1 - Property All Risks exclusion 11 from any automatic sprinkler installations (where shown as operative in the Schedule)

General Exclusions

The **Insurers** shall not be liable

- War and Allied Risks/Dispossession of Property/Radioactive Contamination
 in respect of any loss or destruction of or damage to any property whatsoever or any loss or expense
 whatsoever resulting or arising therefrom or any Consequential Loss or any legal liability of whatsoever
 nature directly or indirectly caused or occasioned by or happening through or in consequence of
 - a) war invasion act of foreign enemy hostilities or warlike operations (whether war be declared or not) civil war rebellion revolution insurrection or military or usurped power except to the extent stated in the Special Provision Section 4 Employers' Liability below
 - b) permanent or temporary dispossession of any property resulting from confiscation nationalisation commandeering or requisition by any lawfully constituted authority except to the extent stated in the Special Provision Section 4 Employers' Liability below
 - c) i. ionising radiations from or contamination by radioactivity from any nuclear fuel or from any nuclear waste or from the combustion of nuclear fuel
 - ii. the radioactive toxic explosive or other hazardous properties of any nuclear installation reactor or other nuclear assembly or nuclear component thereof
 - iii. any weapon or device employing atomic or nuclear fission and or fusion or other like reaction or radioactive force or matter
 - iv. the radioactive toxic explosive or other hazardous or contaminating properties of any radioactive matter but the exclusion in this paragraph (iv) shall not extend to radioactive isotopes other than nuclear fuel when such isotopes are being prepared carried stored or used for commercial agricultural medical scientific or other similar peaceful purposes
 - v. any chemical biological bio-chemical or electromagnetic weapon

but in respect of **Injury** sustained by an **Employee** this exclusion 1(c) shall apply only when the **Insured** under a contract or agreement has undertaken either to indemnify another party or to assume the liability of another party in respect of such **Injury**

Special Provision Section 4 Employers' Liability

Subject otherwise to the terms of the Policy

(a) General Exclusion 1(a) shall not apply and indemnity shall continue to operate to the extent provided for as follows

the insurance provided under Section 4 Employers' Liability where operative shall continue to satisfy the requirements of the relevant law applicable in Great Britain Northern Ireland the Isle of Man the Island of Guernsey the Island of Jersey or the Island of Alderney or where so extended to offshore installations in any waters outside the United Kingdom to which the Employers' Liability (Compulsory Insurance) Act 1969 or any amending primary legislation applies and in this regard the amount of the Limit of Indemnity inclusive of all claimants' and defence costs and expenses payable under Cover clause – Claimants' Costs and Expenses Cover clause – Defence Costs and Expenses and Extension to Section Health and Safety at Work Act Legal Defence Costs as stated in the Employers' Liability Section shall only be for the minimum amount required by such relevant law (and accordingly reduced to such amount where the amount of the Limit of Indemnity stated in the Employers' Liability Section is higher)

In the event that any part of this exclusion is found to be invalid or unenforceable the remainder shall remain in full force and effect

 Property Coverages - Civil Commotion in Northern Ireland under

- a) Section 1 Property All Risks
- b) Section 2 Business Interruption

in respect of any loss destruction or damage in Northern Ireland directly or indirectly caused or occasioned by or happening through or in consequence of civil commotion

3. Property Coverages - Act of Terrorism

loss destruction or damage or cost or expense of whatsoever nature directly or indirectly caused or occasioned by or happening through or in consequence of an **Act of Terrorism** or any action taken in controlling preventing suppressing or in any way relating to an **Act of Terrorism** other than in respect of loss destruction or damage in England and Wales and Scotland to the extent provided for in Section 6 Terrorism of this Policy where operative In any action suit or other proceedings where the Insurers alleges that by reason of this exclusion any loss destruction or damage or cost or expense of whatsoever nature is not covered by this Policy the burden of proving that such loss destruction or damage or cost or expense is covered shall be upon the Insured

This exclusion shall not apply to: Section 4 - Employers' Liability Section 5 – Public & Products Liability

Provided that in respect of Terrorism under:

Section 4 – Employers Liability the **Insurers** liability under this Section for Compensation for **Bodily Injury** in respect of any one occurrence or all occurrences of a series consequent on or attributable to one source or original cause inclusive of all claimant's and defence costs and expenses shall not exceed £5m Section 5 – Public & Products Liability the **Insurers** liability under this Section in respect of one occurrence or all occurrences of a series consequent on or attributable to one source or original cause and during any Period of Insurance in respect of **Products Supplied** shall not exceed £5m

4. Cyber Risk - Third Party

under Section 5 Public & Products Liability in respect of legal liability inclusive of claimants' and defence costs and expenses for and arising out of

- a) Defamation and Intellectual Property Rights
 - Defamation or malicious falsehood including libel slander injurious falsehood trade libel slander of title slander of goods or disparagement of goods
 - ii. Infringement of Intellectual Property Rights

which is committed or occasioned through the use of Cybermedia

- b) Personal Rights
 - i. Infringement of any right to privacy (other than in relation to Data Protection) including privacy in photographs and films or rights under the European Convention on Human Rights
 - ii. Breach of confidence or unauthorised disclosure
 - iii. Unfair treatment that is based on a person's age ethnic background marital status nationality physical or mental disability race colour religion sex or sexual orientation

which is committed or occasioned through the use of Cybermedia

c) Computer Virus

Transmission of any **Computer Virus** through the use of **Cybermedia** but this exclusion shall not apply to **Injury** or physical damage to tangible property including any resulting loss of use of that property other than

- i. physical damage to hardware and ancillary equipment and
- ii. loss destruction of corruption of or damage to software programs data or information in relation to any computer
- d) Data Protection

Contravention of the requirements of the **GDPR** which is committed or occasioned through the use of **Cybermedia**

e) Computer Fraud and Computer Misuse

Computer Fraud or **Computer Misuse** committed or occasioned through the use of **Cybermedia** but in respect of **Computer Misuse** this exclusion shall not apply to **Injury** or physical damage to tangible

property including any resulting loss of use of that property other than

- i. physical damage to hardware and ancillary equipment and
- ii. loss destruction of corruption of or damage to software programs data or information in relation to any computer
- f) Denial of Access
- 5. Punitive and other Non Compensatory Damages

in respect of

- a) exemplary damages
- b) punitive damages
- c) aggravated damages
- d) liquidated damages or damages by way of penalty or fine
- e) the multiplied portion of any compensatory damage award or any payment similar in nature to (a) (b) (c) or (d) above

6. Date Recognition

Damage or **Consequential Loss** of whatsoever nature or liability for damages attaching to the **Insured** or any associated costs relating thereto arising directly or indirectly from or consisting of the failure or inability of any

- a) **Computer Systems Data** microchip integrated circuit or any similar device or any computer software or computer firmware
- b) media or systems used in connection with any of the above

whether the property of the **Insured** or not

- i. to recognise correctly any date as its true calendar date
- ii. to capture save or retain and/or correctly to manipulate interpret or process any **Data** or information or command or instruction as a result of treating any date otherwise than as its true calendar date

but

- a) in respect of Section 1 and Section 2 this shall not exclude subsequent Damage not otherwise excluded
- b) this exclusion shall not apply to Section 4

7. Marine Policies

Damage to **Property** which at the time of the happening of the **Damage** is insured by or would but for the existence of this Policy be insured by any marine policy or policies except in respect of any excess beyond the amount which would have been payable under the marine policy or policies had this Policy not been effected

8. Computer Virus

Alteration modification distortion corruption erasure of or damage to and **Consequential Loss** arising from any **Computer System** or any part thereof whether tangible or intangible (including but without limitation any information or **Data** or programs or software) whether the property of the **Insured** or not where such damage is directly or indirectly caused by or contributed to or by or arises from or occasioned by or results from a **Computer Virus** or **Hacking** or **Phishing** or **Denial of Service Attack**

9. Illegal Deliberate and Criminal Activities

Damage or **Consequential Loss** of whatsoever nature or liability for damages attaching to the **Insured** or any associated costs relating thereto arising directly or indirectly from

- a) damage or liability caused as a result of the **Premises** being used for illegal activities by the **Insured**
- b) deliberate or criminal acts by the Insured

10. Communicable Disease Exclusion

Insurers will not be liable for any loss damage liability claim cost or expense (whether such loss damage liability claim cost or expense has been suffered by an Insured or a third party) of whatsoever nature directly or indirectly caused by contributed to by resulting from arising out of in connection with or otherwise in any way directly or indirectly attributable to:

- a) Coronaviruses; and
- b) Coronavirus disease (COVID-19); and
- c) Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS- CoV-2); and
- d) any mutation of or variation of a), b) or c) above; and
- e) any infectious disease that is designated or treated as a pandemic by the World Health Organisation; and
- f) any fear or anticipation of a), b), c), d) or e) above, regardless of any other cause or event contributing concurrently or in any other sequence thereto

This exclusion will not apply in respect of Section 4 – Employers Liability

11. PFAS (Perflourinated Compounds, Perfluoroalkyl and Perfluoroalkyl Substances)

under Section 5 – Public and Products Liability Insurers will not be liable

- a) any bodily injury property damage personal and advertising injury loss liability damage compensation sickness disease death medical payment defence cost cost expense or any other amount directly or
 - indirectly and regardless of any other cause contributing concurrently or in any sequence originating from caused by arising out of contributed to by resulting from or otherwise in connection with the actual alleged or threatened contaminative pathogenic toxic or other hazardous properties of PFAS and
- b) any and all losses costs and expenses resulting from any claim litigation dispute arbitration investigation or any other legal proceeding or dispute resolution in whole or in part directly or indirectly caused by arising out of resulting from based upon or in any way related to any of the following conducts included but not limited to
 - i. Actual alleged or threatened inhalation of ingestion of consumption of contact with exposure to existence of or presence of PFAS containing products or materials or
 - ii. Design manufacturing production use sale installation placing on the market removal distribution handling packaging storage marketing processing of or any other similar business-related activity relating to PFAS-containing products or materials or
 - iii. Testing for monitoring cleaning up abating removing containing treating detoxifying neutralizing remediating disposing of or in any way responding to or assessing the effect(s) of PFAS- containing products or materials or
 - iv. Failure to report any PFAS-containing products or materials to authorities or
 - v. Failure to warn of potential consequences arising from, or the inadequacy of any warning, relating to any of the conduct described in i) through iv) above.

Definition for purpose of this exclusion

As used herein "PFAS" means

Perfluorinated Compounds Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in any form including but not limited to

- a) any organic molecule, salt, free radical or ion, the composition of which includes at least one i) perfluorinated methyl group (-CF3); or
 - ii) perfluorinated methylene group (-CF2-) or
- b) any breakdown of any organic molecule, salt, free radical or ion, the composition thereof or
- c) any good product or material that has the same or similar chemical formula or structure as such Perfluorinated Compounds Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances or
- d) its presence or use in any alloy by-product, compound or other material or waste that includes or is derived from such compounds or substances.

SECTION 1 – PROPERTY ALL RISKS

Cover

In the event of **Damage** to **Property** insured at the **Premises** during the Period of Insurance the **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** for the loss or amount of **Damage** or at its option replace or reinstate such **Property** in accordance with the provisions of the Policy and provided that during the Period of Insurance the liability of the **Insurers** under this Section shall not exceed the lesser of the Sum Insured or Limit stated in the Policy or Schedule in respect of any item at the time of **Damage**

In addition the **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** in respect of loss of **Rent** as a result of **Damage** to the **Premises** during the Period of Insurance rendering the **Buildings** uninhabitable provided that the liability of the **Insurers** shall not exceed the lesser of

- a) the **Rent** Sum Insured stated in the Schedule at the time of **Damage**
- b) the **Rent** payable for the period the **Buildings** are uninhabitable

Extensions to Section 1

All terms exclusions and conditions under Section 1 apply to these Extensions in addition to those shown below as applying to each Extension

1. Fixed Glass

Following **Damage** to fixed glass the **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** for the reasonable costs incurred in

- a) any necessary boarding up or temporary glazing pending replacement of broken glass
- b) removing and re-fixing window fittings or other obstacles to glass replacement and replacing alarm foil on glass
- c) **Damage** to framework and contents cased by broken glass caused by **Damage** which is not otherwise excluded by this Section

2. Keys

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** for the reasonable cost of replacing electronic security systems and locks or lock mechanisms and keys in respect of doors and windows necessary to maintain the security of the **Premises** and **Safes and Strongrooms** contained in the **Premises**

- a) resulting from any accidental loss of access cards or keys occurring within the Territorial Limits
- b) where there is reasonable evidence that such keys have been copied by an unauthorised person Subject to a maximum liability of £2,500 for any one loss

3. Theft Damage to **Buildings**

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** against the cost of repairing **Damage** to the **Buildings** for which the **Insured** is legally responsible and which is not otherwise insured which directly results from theft

4. Temporary Removal

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** for **Damage** to **Contents** whilst temporarily removed for cleaning renovation repair or similar purposes and to documents whilst temporarily removed elsewhere and in transit within the **Territorial Limits** subject to a maximum for any one loss of 10% of the Sum Insured shown for **Contents** in the Schedule

This extension shall not apply to

- a) motor vehicles and motor chassis licensed for normal road use
- b) **Property** more specifically insured under Optional Cover Goods in Transit

5. Exhibitions

The Insurers will indemnify the Insured for Damage to Contents and Stock whilst in any building (not being

of a temporary nature) and being used for an exhibition anywhere within the **Territorial Limits** and whilst in transit to and from the exhibition premises subject to a maximum of £10,000 for any one loss

6. Other Locations

The Insurers will indemnify the Insured for Damage to Contents and Stock

- a) whilst within the main building of the private residential home of a director or **Employee** anywhere within the **Territorial Limits** and
- b) whilst in transit to and from the main building of such private residential home and the **Premises** subject to a maximum of £2,500 for any one loss and an aggregate maximum of £10,000 in any one Period of Insurance

7. Third Party Storage Locations

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** for **Damage** to **Contents** and **Stock** whilst at third party storage locations within the **Territorial Limits**

The liability of the Insurers shall not exceed £5,000 at any one location or £10,000 for any one loss

8. Landscaped Gardens

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** for costs and expenses incurred by the **Insured** with the consent of the **Insurers** in making good **Damage** to landscaped gardens and grounds caused by Fire Brigade equipment and personnel in the course of combating or reducing **Damage** at the **Premises** subject to an aggregate maximum of £25,000 in any one Period of Insurance

9. Loss of Metered Supplies

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** for the cost of metered electricity gas oil and water consumed as a direct result of **Damage** to any tank apparatus pipe or cable not being automatic sprinkler installations at the **Premises** calculated at the rate applying at the time of the **Damage** subject to a maximum of £25,000 for any one loss

10. Trace and Access

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** for the costs incurred in locating the source of an escape of water or fuel from any tank apparatus or pipe on the **Premises** and subsequent making good of **Damage** caused as a consequence of locating such source subject to a maximum of £25,000 for any one loss

11. Clearing of Drains

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** for the costs and expenses incurred in cleaning clearing or repairing drains gutters or sewers at the **Premises** as a consequence of **Damage** but only to the extent of the **Insured's** responsibility subject to a maximum of £25,000 for any one loss

12. Fire and Security Equipment

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** in respect of costs and expenses incurred with the consent of the **Insurers** in

- a) refilling recharging or replacing any
 - i. portable fire extinguishing appliances
 - ii. local fire suppression system
 - iii. fixed fire suppression system
 - iv. sprinkler installation
 - v. sprinkler heads
- b) re-setting fire and/or intruder alarms and/or closed circuit television equipment

following **Damage** to **Property** insured under Section 1- Property All Risks subject to a maximum of £25,000 for any one loss

If in relation to any claim under this extension the **Insured** have failed to fulfil the following conditions the **Insured** will lose the right to indemnity or payment for that loss

- The Insured must maintain all such equipment in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions

- The **Insurers** will not indemnify the **Insured** in respect of any costs and expenses recoverable from the **Insured's** maintenance company or the Fire and Rescue Service

13. Computer Records

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** for the cost of the materials together with the cost of clerical labour and computer time expended in reproducing **Computer Records** and not for the value to the **Insured** for the information contained therein but excluding any expenses in connection with the production of information to be recorded in such **Computer Records** for a maximum of £10,000 for any one loss and in the aggregate in any one Period of Insurance

14. Theft of Building Parts

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** for **Damage** in respect of forcible and violent theft or attempted theft of an external part of the building at the **Premises** or anything attached to it Provided that

- a) the property sustaining such **Damage** is **Property** insured
- b) this extension shall not apply in respect of
 - i. at the time at the time such **Damage** occurs any building is not **Unoccupied**
 - ii. any **Building** that has scaffolding erected to the outside of the **Building** at the time such **Damage** occurs
- c) the **Insurers** liability under this extensions is limited to £25,000 any one loss and in any one Period of Insurance
- d) the **Insured** shall be responsible for the first £2,500 in respect of each loss

15. Obsolete Building Materials

The **Insurers** will pay additional costs incurred in replacement of damaged materials which given consideration to the scientific and technical knowledge at the time of installation construction or fitting were reasonably deemed to be fit for the purpose intended but require replacement with more suitable modern materials after the **Damage**

The **Buildings** shall not be regarded as being better or more extensive than when new provided that the liability of the **Insurers** shall not exceed 10% of the **Declared Value** of such **Buildings** in respect of such additional costs

The total liability of the **Insurers** for **Damage** to such property including such fees shall not exceed the Sums Insured stated in the Schedule

16. Emergency Access

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** for the costs incurred following **Damage** to the **Buildings** caused by the emergency services or persons acting under their control in gaining access to the **Buildings** as a result of concern for the welfare of the Tenant(s) or to combat **Damage** to the **Premises** subject to an aggregate maximum of £10,000 in any one Period of Insurance

This extension shall not include any costs incurred following **Damage** caused by the Police in the course of a criminal investigation or as a result of unlawful activities at the **Premises**

17. Unauthorised Use of Supplies

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** for the cost of water gas electricity or other metered supply charges incurred by the **Insured** and for which the **Insured** is legally responsible up to a maximum of £25,000 for any one loss due to unauthorised use by persons taking possession of or occupying any **Building** without the written consent of the **Insurers** provided that

- a) the **Insured** shall take all practicable steps to terminate such unauthorised use as soon as it is discovered
- b) General Condition 26 Unoccupied Buildings has been complied with by the Insured
- immediate notification of such possession is given to the **Insurers** upon the **Insured** becoming aware of it

18. Undamaged Tenants Improvements

In the event of **Damage** to **Buildings** or **Contents** following which the **Insured's** lease is terminated by the Lessor pursuant to a valid condition of the **Insured's** lease the **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** for the value of the undamaged tenants fixtures fittings alterations installations or additions made at the expense of the **Insured** and which cannot be legally removed from a building occupied but not owned by the **Insured** provided that

- a) the **Insurers** shall not be liable for retaining walls foundations or supports below the surface of the lowest floor or basement or for outdoor trees shrubs plants or lawns
- b) the liability of the **Insurers** shall not exceed £25,000 any one loss

Clauses

1. Non-invalidation

The insurance by this Section shall not be invalidated by any act or omission or alteration unknown to or beyond the control of the **Insured** whereby the risk of **Damage** is increased as long as immediately the **Insured**

becomes aware of the increase in risk they inform the **Insurers** in writing and pay an appropriate additional premium if required by the **Insurers**

2. Reinstatement of Losses

Unless written notice to the contrary be given by either the **Insurers** or the **Insured** the insurance by this Section shall not be reduced by the amount of any loss and the **Insured** shall pay the appropriate additional premium from the date of the **Damage** to the date of expiry of the Period of Insurance

3. Mortgagees

The interest of any mortgagee shall not be prejudiced by any act or neglect of the mortgagor or occupier which may increase the risk of **Damage** to any **Buildings** insured by this Section provided the mortgagee immediately upon becoming aware of such increase in risk shall give notice to the **Insurers** and pay an appropriate additional premium if required

4. Property more specifically insured

The **Insurers** shall not be liable for **Damage** to any **Property** insured more specifically by or on behalf of the **Insured**

5. Seventy-Two Hour Period

Where shown on the Schedule as insured under Section 1 – Property All Risks all losses arising separately out of one event caused by

- i. Storm
- ii. Flood
- iii. Earthquake

occurring within each and every separate period of 72 hours during the Period of Insurance will be deemed to be one loss in determining the application of the **Excess**

Basis of Settlement Clauses

Average

If the **Property** covered by this Policy shall at the time of the **Damage** be collectively of greater value than the Sums Insured then the **Insured** shall be considered as being their own insurer for the difference and shall bear a rateable share of the **Damage** accordingly

2. Property Insured other than Stock – Reinstatement

In the event of Damage to Property insured other than Stock and Computer and Telecommunication

Equipment the basis of settlement shall be the cost of reinstatement meaning the rebuilding replacement repair or restoration of such **Property** to a condition substantially the same as but not better or more extensive than its condition when new

In the event of **Damage** to **Computer and Telecommunication Equipment** the basis of settlement shall be the cost of reinstatement meaning

- a) where any item suffers **Damage** beyond economic repair replacement by a new item of equal performance and/or capacity or if such be impossible replacement by an item having the nearest higher performance and/or capacity to the item damaged
- b) where the item suffers **Damage** the repair of the **Damage** and the restoration of the damaged portions to a working condition substantially the same as but not better or more extensive than its condition when new

Special Provisions

- i. The replacement must be carried out without undue delay and no payment beyond the amount which would have been paid in the absence of this clause will be made until the cost of reinstatement has been incurred
- ii. Where **Damage** occurs to only part of the **Property** the liability of the **Insurers** shall not exceed the amount which the **Insurers** would have been liable to pay had such property been wholly destroyed
- iii. If at the time of reinstatement of any item the sum representing 85% of the cost which would have been incurred in reinstating the whole of the **Property** covered by such item exceeds its Sum Insured at the time of the **Damage** the liability of the **Insurers** shall not exceed that proportion of the amount of the **Damage** which the said Sum Insured shall bear to the sum representing the total cost of reinstating the whole of such **Property** at that time

3. Stock

In respect of **Stock** the **Insurers** will pay the **Insured** the value of the **Stock** at the time of its **Damage** with adjustment for wear and tear

If at the time of any **Damage** the value of the **Stock** insured under any item is greater than its Sum Insured the **Insured** shall be considered as being their own insurer for the difference and shall bear a rateable share of the loss accordingly

4. Index Linking

Where so indicated in the Schedule the Sums Insured shall be adjusted in accordance with fluctuations in suitable indices of the cost to be decided upon by the **Insurer**

At each renewal of the Policy the premium shall be calculated on the revised Sum Insured

5. Seasonal Increases

The **Stock** Sums Insured will be deemed to have been increased by 30%

- g) during the months of July and August each year
- h) during the period 1St November each year until 5th January the following year and
- i) for a period of 31 days immediately prior before Easter Sunday each year

6. European Union and Public Authorities

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** for the additional cost of

- a) reinstating the damaged parts of the **Buildings**
- b) upgrading any undamaged parts of the **Buildings**

for an amount not exceeding 15% of the amount that would have been payable if the **Buildings** had been totally destroyed incurred solely by the necessity to comply with any building or other statutory regulations or Public Authority Bylaw or European Community Legislation excluding

- any cost resulting from any such requirement first imposed upon the Insured before the date of the Damage
- ii. the amount of any rate tax duty development or other charge arising out of capital appreciation as a

result of complying with any such requirements which may be payable in respect of the **Buildings** Conditions

- a. The work of reinstatement must be completed within 12 months of the date of the **Damage** or such further period as the **Insurers** may in writing allow
- b. The liability of the **Insurers** for **Damage** to such property including such costs and expenses shall not exceed the Sum Insured stated in the Schedule

7. Removal of Debris

This insurance includes the costs incurred in respect of removal of debris of **Property** insured resulting from **Damage** excluding

- costs incurred in removing debris except from the site of such Damage and the area immediately adjacent to such site
- b) costs arising from **Pollution or Contamination** of property not insured by this Section
 The total liability of the **Insurers** for **Damage** to such property including such costs and expenses shall not exceed the Sums Insured stated in the Schedule

8. Capital Additions

To the extent that they are not otherwise insured the insurance of **Buildings Tenants' Improvements** and **Contents** shall extend to cover

- a) alterations additions and improvements to **Buildings Tenants' Improvements** and **Contents** but not appreciation of the value of such property
- any newly erected or acquired Buildings Tenants' Improvements and Contents within the Territorial
 Limits from the commencement date of the responsibility of the Insured

 subject to
- i. the **Insured** advising the **Insurers** of the amendments as soon as practicable on becoming aware of the increase in the extent of cover required and paying the appropriate additional premium
- ii. the Sums Insured for **Buildings Tenants' Improvements** and **Contents** at each location only being increased by the value of the additional property up to no more than 10% of the existing Sums Insured or £500,000 whichever is the lesser at any one location

9. Professional Fees

The insurance by each item on **Buildings Tenants' Improvements** and **Contents** includes an amount for architects' surveyors' consulting engineers' and legal fees incurred in the reinstatement or repair of such property consequent upon its **Damage** but not for preparing any claim. The total liability of the **Insurers** for **Damage** to such property including such fees shall not exceed the Sums Insured stated in the Schedule

10. Contracting Purchaser

Where the **Insured** at the time of **Damage** has contracted to sell their interest in any insured **Building** and the purchase is subsequently completed the contracting purchaser shall be entitled to benefit under the **Policy** provided that the **Building** is not otherwise insured in respect of such **Damage**

11. Contract Price

In respect only of **Stock** sold but not delivered for which the **Insured** is responsible under the terms of a sale contract which following **Damage** is cancelled due to the contract conditions wholly or to the extent of the **Damage** the liability of the **Insurers** shall be based on the contract price

12. Subrogation Waiver

In the event of a claim arising under this Section the **Insurers** agree to waive any rights remedies or relief to which they might become entitled by subrogation against

- a) any company standing in the relation of parent or subsidiary to the Insured or
- b) any company which is a subsidiary of or a parent company of which the **Insured** themselves are subsidiary in each case within the meaning of the Companies Act or Companies (Northern Ireland) Order current at the time of the **Damage**

13. Other Interests

Interests of third parties which the **Insured** is required to include herein under the terms of any mortgage property lease or hiring leasing or hire purchase agreement are automatically deemed to be held covered subject to notification by the **Insured** to the **Insurers** at the time of the **Damage**

14. Business Books

The basis of settlement of any claim for business books shall be their value as stationery together with the cost of clerical labour expended in their reproduction

Exclusions to Section 1

The **Insurers** shall not be liable for

- 1. **Damage** caused by or consisting of
 - inherent vice latent defect gradual deterioration wear tear frost change in water table level its own defective or faulty design or materials
 - b) faulty or defective workmanship operational error or lack of maintenance on the part of the **Insured** or any director partner or **Employee**
 - the bursting of any boiler not used for domestic purposes only or any economiser or other vessel
 machine or apparatus belonging to or under the control of the **Insured** in which internal pressure is
 due to steam only
 - d) pressure waves caused by aircraft or other aerial devices travelling at sonic or supersonic speed but this will not exclude subsequent **Damage** which itself results from a cause not otherwise excluded
- 2. Damage caused by or consisting of
 - a) corrosion rust wet or dry rot shrinkage evaporation loss of weight dampness dryness mould or toxic mould marring scratching vermin or insects
 - b) change in temperature colour flavour texture or finish
 - c) joint leakage failure of welds cracking fracturing collapse or overheating of boilers economisers superheaters pressure vessels or any range of steam and feed piping
 - d) the freezing solidification or inadvertent escape of molten material
 - e) mechanical or electrical breakdown or derangement in respect of the particular machine apparatus or equipment in which the breakdown or derangement originates

but this will not exclude

- i. such Damage which itself results from other Damage and is not otherwise excluded
- ii. subsequent **Damage** which itself results from a cause not otherwise excluded
- 3. Damage caused by or consisting of theft or attempted theft from any part of the Buildings occupied by the Insured for the purpose of the Business unless caused by theft or attempted theft of Property insured from within the buildings at the Premises where accompanied by forcible and violent entry to or exit from the Buildings or by violence to persons or threat of violence to persons and provided that the Premises have not been unoccupied for a period of more than thirty consecutive days

This exclusion shall not apply to subsequent Damage which itself results from a cause not otherwise excluded

- 4. **Damage** caused by or consisting of
 - a) subsidence ground heave or landslip unless it results from a **Defined Peril** other than storm or flood and which is not otherwise excluded
 - b) normal settlement or bedding down of new structures
 - c) dishonesty fraudulent action trick device or other false pretence by any **Employee** partner or director of the **Insured** whether acting alone or in collusion with others

- 5. **Damage** caused by or consisting of disappearance unexplained or inventory shortage misfiling or misplacing of information
- 6. **Damage** caused by Contractors on the **Premises** for the purpose of carrying out contract works structural or other substantial alterations or extensions to **Buildings** (including any contract under JCT conditions)
- 7. **Damage** caused by wind rain hail sleet snow flood or dust to any moveable property in the open or fences and gates
- 8. **Damage** to any **Building** or structure resulting in its own collapse or cracking unless it results from a **Defined Peril** and is not otherwise excluded
- 9. Damage to the Property Insured
 - a) by fire caused by its undergoing any process involving the application of heat
 - resulting from its undergoing any process of production packing treatment testing commissioning servicing or repair but this will not apply to any **Damage** caused by a **Defined Peril** and not otherwise excluded
- 10. **Damage** caused by
 - a) freezing
 - b) escape of water from any tank or apparatus or pipe
 - c) malicious persons not acting on behalf of or in connection with any political organisation but this will not apply to any **Damage** by fire or explosion which is not otherwise excluded

in any **Building** or Unit which is **Unoccupied**

11. Damage to

- a) vehicles licensed for road use (including accessories) caravans trailers railway locomotives rolling stock watercraft or aircraft
- b) property or structures in the course of construction or erection and materials or supplies in connection with all such property
- c) land pavements piers jetties bridges culverts or excavations
- d) livestock growing crops or trees or other growing vegetation
- e) jewellery precious stones precious metals bullion furs curiosities works of art or rare books
- 12. **Damage** caused by pollution or contamination but this shall not exclude **Damage** to the **Property** not otherwise excluded caused by
 - a) pollution or contamination which itself results from a **Defined Peril**
 - b) a **Defined Peril** which itself results from pollution or contamination
- 13. direct or indirect **Consequential Loss** or **Damage** of any kind or description except loss of **Rent** where such Item appears in the Schedule

Endorsements

The following endorsement is only operative if shown Subsidence is shown as included on the Policy Schedule and is subject otherwise to the terms of the Property All Risks Section and the General Definitions Conditions and Exclusions

Subsidence

Notwithstanding Property All Risks Section Exclusion 5(a) the insurance provided by this Property All Risks Section extends to cover **Damage** caused by or consisting of subsidence or ground heave of any part of the site on which the **Property** stands or landslip subject to the Special Condition below

The insurance provided under this endorsement does not cover

- a) Damage to roads yards car parks pavements walls gates and fences and any similar or other property outside
 the confines of any building within the Premises unless a building insured hereby within the same Premises
 is also Damaged
- b) **Damage** caused by or consisting of
 - i. the normal settlement or bedding down of new structures
 - ii. the settlement or movement of made-up ground
 - iii. coastal or river erosion
 - iv. defective design or workmanship or the use of defective materials
 - v. fire subterranean fire explosion earthquake or the escape of water from any tank apparatus or pipe
- c) **Damage** which originated prior to the inception of this cover
- d) **Damage** resulting from
 - i. demolition construction structural alteration or repair of any Property or
 - ii. groundworks or excavation at the same Premises
- the Excess stated in the Schedule and the Excess shall apply to each separate Premises

Special Condition

No cover shall apply under this endorsement if the risk of **Damage** is increased by reason of demolition groundworks excavation or construction being carried out on any adjoining site unless admitted by the **Insurers** in writing

Conditions

1. Risk Protections

- a) Automatic Sprinkler and Fire Alarm Installations
 - A. In respect of **Damage** by fire that in respect of automatic sprinkler and fire alarm installations at the **Premises** the **Insured** will
 - i. take all reasonable steps to prevent freezing of and other **Damage** to the installations and in so far as it is the responsibility of the **Insured**
 - a. maintain the installations (including the automatic external alarm signal) in efficient working order
 - b. maintain ready access to the water supply control facilities
 - ii. in the event that changes repairs or alterations to the installations are proposed notify the **Insurers** in writing and obtain its prior agreement in writing
 - iii. allow the **Insurers** access to the **Premises** at all reasonable times for the purpose of inspecting the installations
 - iv. carry out routine tests as recommended by the installers and remedy promptly any defect revealed by a test
 - B. In the event that alterations or repairs become necessary to the automatic sprinkler installation the **Insurers** may at their option suspend any cover which is granted against **Damage** by the accidental escape of water from the installation until the alteration or repairs have been carried out and approved by the **Insurers**

b) Fire Extinguishing Appliances

In respect of fire extinguishing appliances within the **Premises** the **Insured** will

- i. inspect the appliances in accordance with the manufacturers/installers instructions for the purpose of ascertaining that they are in all respects maintained in efficient working order and keep a written record thereof
- ii. remedy any defect promptly whether disclosed by any inspection(s) or otherwise
- iii. maintain during the currency of this Policy a maintenance contract providing for an annual inspection with an installer or supplier of approved equipment
- iv. establish and maintain a training programme for the operation of fire extinguishing appliances and retain a documented register of all such training for inspection by the **Insurers** on request

Subject to observance of this Condition this Section of the Policy shall not be invalidated by any defect in any of the said appliances due to any circumstances unknown to or beyond the control of the **Insured**

c) Fire Break Doors

All fire break doors and shutters are kept closed except during **Business Hours** and are maintained in efficient working order

2. Security and Intruder Alarm Protections - Premises

Whenever the **Premises** are left unattended the **Insured** ensures

- a) all security devices (other than intruder alarms) including locks fastenings shutters and other methods of securing access to the **Premises** are in full and effective operation and keys removed from the **Premises** whenever same is closed for business
- b) where the **Insurers** have required an intruder alarm to be installed or if an intruder alarm is already installed on the **Premises**
 - 1. the intruder alarm must be maintained in efficient working order at all times and in accordance with its installation specification or as otherwise approved by the **Insurers**
 - a maintenance service contract with the installation company or as otherwise approved by the Insurers must be in force and the maintenance company immediately advised of any apparent defect in the intruder alarm or its signalling
 - 3. the intruder alarm shall be put into full and effective operation at all times in respect of 24 hour

designated circuits and otherwise the Premises must not be left unattended unless

- A. the intruder alarm is put into full and effective operation including where the equipment permits any central station to which the intruder alarm is connected acknowledging the setting signal
- B. the intruder alarm is regularly tested and is in full and efficient working order
- 4. the **Insured** shall give immediate written notice to the **Insurers** if it receives from the police or security organisation warning of a possible or intended withdrawal of response to calls from the intruder alarm or of a reduced response level

The insurance provided under this Section does not cover **Damage** caused by

- A. theft or attempted theft from the **Premises** other than where accompanied by violence to persons or threat of violence to persons or
- B. malicious persons at any time when the **Premises** are closed for business or left unattended where police response to alarm activation is withdrawn unless written agreement has been obtained from the **Insurers** that such insurance remains operative

For the purposes of this condition intruder alarm includes detection devices sensors detection circuit control and processing equipment power supplies audible and remote signalling and ancillary telecommunication systems

3. Unattended Accumulator/Battery Charging

Whenever accumulator or battery charging takes place at the **Premises** the accumulator/batteries will stand in a well-ventilated situation and on a non-conducting non-absorbent and non-combustible base and will not be within one metre of combustible materials

4. Electrical

Inspection The

Insured must

- a) have all electrical systems electrical equipment including portable appliances and conductors at the insured **Premises** inspected and tested by a qualified electrical contractor who is either
 - i. a contractor approved by NICEIC (National Inspection Council for Electrical Installation Contracting)
 Certification Services Ltd or ECA (Electrical Contractors Association) or
 - ii. a member of the Electrical Contractors Association or the Electrical Contractors Association of Scotland or
 - iii. an inspection and testing organisation which is a member of SAFed (The Safety Assessment Federation)

to ensure compliance with relevant standards and regulations

Future tests and inspections must be conducted within the recommended period specified in the completion certificate

- b) any work as specified following the testing and inspection referred to in a) above is carried out within 60 days from the date of the electrical inspection report being issued or the improvements being first notified to the Insured or as otherwise agreed by the Insurers in writing
- c) a copy of each completion certificate(s) must be supplied to the Insurers on request
- d) regular and ongoing visual inspections by the **Insured** are undertaken at least every 6 months and any defect found to be remedied immediately and a register of these to be maintained and retained by the **Insured**

5. Portable Heater

No paraffin or portable electric or gas heaters or containers are used or stored on the **Premises** This does not apply to offices or designated rest rooms

Additional Covers

All terms exclusions and conditions of Section 1 apply to these Optional Covers in addition to those shown below as applying to each Optional Cover

Money Cover

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** in respect of loss of or damage to **Money** and **Non-Negotiable Money** held in connection with the **Business** as detailed below occurring during the Period of Insurance

- a) in the **Premises** during **Business Hours** or whilst in a bank night safe
- b) in transit to and from the **Premises** whilst in the custody of the **Insured** or an authorised person acting on behalf of the **Insured**
- c) in the **Insured's** or any authorised person's private dwelling house
- d) in the Premises whilst left unattended or outside Business Hours and not secured in a locked Safe
- e) in the Premises whilst left unattended or outside Business Hours and secured in a locked unspecified Safe
- f) in the **Premises** whilst left unattended or outside **Business Hours** and secured in a specified **Safe** if stated in the Schedule

For the purposes of this Optional Cover **Premises** shall mean the main building(s) occupied by the **Insured** at the risk address stated in the Schedule

The liability of the **Insurers** under this Optional Cover shall be restricted to the Limits stated in the Schedule for any one loss

The Insurers will also indemnify the Insured in respect of Damage to

- a) any **Safe/Strongroom** till or postal franking machine belonging to the **Insured** or for which the **Insured** is legally responsible up to an amount not exceeding the cost of repair or replacement
- clothing and personal effects belonging to the Insured or any partner director or Employee of the Insured
 resulting from theft or attempted theft of Money or Non-Negotiable Money subject to a maximum of £500
 for any one loss

Exclusions

The **Insurers** shall not be liable for loss from

- a) shortage due to error or omission
- b) forgery deception or the use of counterfeit Money or Non-Negotiable Money
- c) the use of any form of payment which proves to be counterfeit false fraudulent invalid uncollectible or irrecoverable for any reason
- d) theft or attempted theft from the **Premises** as stated in the Schedule or any authorised person's private dwelling house unless involving entry to or exit from such **Premises** or private dwelling by forcible and violent means or actual or threatened hold up assault or violence
- e) theft or attempted theft by any **Employee** not discovered within seven working days or where Optional Cover Theft by Employees is operative as shown in the Schedule
- f) an unattended vehicle and any coin operated vending gaming machines or automated money operated machine
- g) **Damage** not within the **Territorial Limits**
- h) any business or other activity not connected with the **Business** conducted from the **Premises** as stated in the Schedule
- i) from an attack which allows unauthorised access or use of a **Computer** or telecommunications system by electronically circumventing a security system and procedure or a **Computer Virus** but this shall not exclude loss not otherwise excluded which itself results from fire explosion escape of water from any tank apparatus or pipe
- j) depreciation in value or due to dishonoured cheques
- k) the result of a business transaction

Conditions

- 1. The **Insured** shall maintain the following minimum standards of precaution for the safety of **Money** in transit (other than by specialist security carrier) at all times
 - a. the times of transits routes and conveyances used shall be varied as far as is possible
 - b. all persons engaged in the transit of **Money** shall be at least 18 years of age
 - c. transits of amounts of
 - i. up to £3,000 shall be accompanied by at least one person
 - ii. £3,001 to £6,000 shall be accompanied by at least two people
 - iii. £6,001 to £10,000 shall be accompanied by at least three people or two people travelling by motor car or using an approved security case
 - iv. amounts exceeding £10,000 shall be transported by specialist security carrier
- 2. When the **Premises** as stated in the Schedule or any authorised person's private dwelling house in which **Money** is kept is left unattended
 - a. all locks bolts and other protective devices are in full operation
 - b. all keys must be held in the personal custody of an authorised person and removed from
 - i. the unattended **Premises** as stated in the Schedule or
 - ii. from the final exit door of any authorised person's unattended private dwelling house

Theft by Employees

This Optional Cover is only operative if shown in the Schedule

For the purposes of this Optional Cover employee shall mean permanent employees under a contract of service or apprenticeship with the **Insured** and the Definition of **Employee** shall not apply

Cover

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** for direct loss of **Money** or **Non-Negotiable Money** or **Property** belonging to the **Insured** or for which they are legally responsible

- caused by any act of fraud or dishonesty committed during the Period of Insurance by any employee with the clear intention of making or which results in improper financial gain for themselves or for any other person or organisation and
- b) which is discovered by the **Insured** and notified to the **Insurers** within 30 days of the loss

Provided that

- a) all losses insured by this Optional Cover and committed by any one employee or series of employees working in collusion with each other shall be regarded as one specific event
- b) the liability of the Insurers shall be restricted to £10,000 in respect of any one specific event

Exclusions

The **Insurers** shall not be liable under this Optional Cover for

- a) loss attributable solely to any unexplained shortages
- b) loss caused by an employee before this Optional Cover incepted
- c) loss where the Insured continues to entrust the defaulting employee with access to Money or Non-Negotiable Money or Property after becoming aware of any material fact that questions the honesty of the employee
- d) any indirect loss arising as an indirect consequence of the specific event in respect of which indemnity is provided by this Optional Cover

Basis of Settlement

The **Insurers** will pay the value of the **Money** or **Non-Negotiable Money** or **Property** at the time of the loss or at its option replace or reinstate the **Property**

Personal Accident (Assault)

Cover

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** and any **Employee** for compensation in accordance with the Schedule of Benefits in respect of **Physical Injury**

Schedule of Benefits

- 1. Death occurring within 2 years of sustaining the **Physical Injury**
- 2. Loss of Limbs or Eyes occurring within 2 years of sustaining the Physical Injury
- 3. Permanent Total Disablement
- 4. Temporary Total Disablement

The liability of the **Insurers** under this Optional Cover shall be restricted to the Limits stated in the Schedule for any one loss

Exclusions

The **Insurers** shall not be liable for

a) more than one of the Benefits 1 to 3 inclusive in respect of any one person arising out of the same

Physical Injury

- b) Benefits 1 to 4 inclusive in respect of any person under 16 at the time of sustaining the Physical Injury
- c) Benefits 1 to 4 inclusive consequent upon any pre-existing physical or mental defect or infirmity

Conditions

- 1) All sums paid under Benefit 4 shall be deducted from any sum which may subsequently be paid under any of Benefits 1 to 3 inclusive in respect of the same **Physical Injury**
- 2) Payment under Benefit 3 is not payable before 104 weeks from the date of the Physical Injury
- 3) Benefit 4 is payable for a maximum of 104 weeks from the date of the Physical Injury

All Risks on Portable Property

This Optional Cover is operative only if stated in the Schedule

Cover

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** against **Damage** to the portable property specified in the Schedule used in connection with the **Business** within the Geographical Areas specified in the Schedule

For the purposes of this Optional Cover reference to mobile phones means only those mobile devices where the sole or primary function of the item is to make send and receive telephone calls and SMS messages

The liability of the **Insurers** under this Optional Cover shall be restricted to the Sums Insured stated in the Schedule for any one loss

Exclusions

The Insurers shall not be liable for

- a) **Damage** to portable property left unattended unless contained in
 - i. a securely locked building or
 - ii. a vehicle which has been securely locked at all points of access and any security alarms and immobilisers fitted to the vehicle are in full operation and the portable property is concealed from view
- b) depreciation or electrical or mechanical breakdown
- c) Damage arising from wear and tear or from any process of cleaning restoring adjusting or repairing
- d) **Damage** by official confiscation or detention

Goods in Transit

This Cover is only operative if shown in the Schedule

Cover

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** for **Damage** to **Goods in Transit** within the **Territorial Limits** during the Period of Insurance

- a) whilst being carried on any **Vehicle** owned or operated by the **Insured**
- b) as Sendings by a carrier other than the **Insured** by means of road rail or inland air freight

The liability of the **Insurers** under Cover shall be restricted to the Limits stated in the Schedule for any one loss

Whilst **Goods in Transit** are being carried on any **Vehicle** owned or operated by the **Insured** the **Insurers** will also

indemnify the **Insured** for

- a) **Damage** to packing materials protective sheeting ropes chains and toggles belonging to the **Insured** while being carried on the **Vehicle** subject to a maximum of £2,500 for any one loss
- b) **Damage** to personal effects belonging to the driver or attendant while carried by any **Vehicle** in the course of the employment of the driver or attendant with the **Insured** subject to a maximum of £500 for any one loss
- c) the removal of debris and site clearance of **Goods in Transit** damaged from the immediate area of the site where the **Damage** occurred subject to a maximum of £2,500 for any one loss
- d) the additional costs incurred in transferring **Goods in Transit** to any other vehicle following fire collision overturning or impact of the **Vehicle** including carrying the **Goods in Transit** to the original destination or place of collection subject to a maximum of £2,500 for any one loss
- e) reloading onto the **Vehicle** any **Goods in Transit** which have fallen from the **Vehicle** subject to a maximum of £2,500 for any one loss
- re-securing the **Goods in Transit** where there is dangerous movement of the load subject to a maximum of £2,500 for any one loss

Exclusions

The Insurers shall not be liable under this Optional Cover for Damage

- a) to explosive goods any other goods of a dangerous nature deeds plans designs documents manuscripts business books computer system records
- b) to wines spirits or tobacco
- c) to **Goods in Transit** placed on the open deck of a vessel unless packed in a secured container or secured hard topped **Vehicle** or trailer
- d) to any **Goods in Transit** arising out of or attributable to theft or attempted theft
 - i. from or on an unattended Vehicle or trailer during Working Hours unless all doors windows and other means of access were secured and locked and alarm (if any) activated and in respect of an unattended Vehicle the Goods in Transit were placed in the boot or similar luggage compartment of the Vehicle and effectively concealed from sight and the boot or compartment was securely closed and locked
 - ii. from or on an unattended **Vehicle** or trailer out of **Working Hours** unless all doors windows and other means of access were secured and locked and alarm (if any) activated and in respect of an unattended **Vehicle** the **Goods in Transit** were placed in the boot or similar luggage compartment of the **Vehicle** and effectively concealed from sight and the boot or compartment was securely closed and locked and such **Vehicle** or trailer was garaged in a securely closed and locked building or compound
 - iii. from or on an unattended soft topped open topped or open sided **Vehicle** or trailer unless also involving theft of the **Vehicle** or trailer
 - iv. where the **Goods in Transit** are otherwise left unattended unless contained in a locked building of substantial construction or in a secure locked room

As used in this provision unattended means that the **Insured** or any person to whom the **Insured** has entrusted the care custody and control of **Goods in Transit** are unable to exercise control over or otherwise unable to influence events affecting the **Goods in Transit**

- e) to **Goods in Transit** in or on soft topped open topped or open sided **Vehicles** or trailers if caused by
 - i. storm tempest water hail frost or snow
 - ii. malicious persons when the Vehicle or trailer is left unattended out of Working Hours
- f) to **Goods in Transit** carried or despatched by the **Insured** for hire or reward
- g) to Goods in Transit caused by defective or inadequate packing or insufficient addressing
- h) to Goods in Transit caused by bruising scratching chipping denting
- i) to furniture glass or other brittle objects unless caused by fire theft or accident to the mode of carriage

- to Goods in Transit caused by or arising out of mechanical or electrical breakdown or derangement wear and tear action of light deterioration mildew moth vermin and the like unless external Damage has occurred
- k) to Goods in Transit caused by spillage leakage evaporation loss of weight or shrinkage
- l) caused by depreciation loss of market delay or inadequate documentation
- m) caused by any erection dismantling or installation
- n) caused by loss of sheets ropes chains toggles or packing materials as a result of disappearance or shortage unless such loss is the result of an incident recorded by the **Insured**

Conditions

1. The valuation of **Stock** shall be at invoice cost. If an invoice has not been raised the basis of valuation shall be the value of the **Stock** at the time of the commencement of the transit

Deterioration of Stock

This Optional Cover is only operative if shown in the Schedule

Definition

The following words or phrases have the same meaning wherever they appear, in **bold italics**, within this Optional Extension

Refrigerated Goods

Any Stock which ordinarily is placed in a refrigerated or freezer unit for the purpose of preservation

Cover

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** for **Damage** to **Refrigerated Goods** the property of the **Insured** or for which the **Insured** is responsible due to deterioration contamination or putrefaction whilst contained in a frozen food cabinet freezer cold room cold store or refrigerator specified in the Schedule at the **Premises** for the purpose of the **Business** caused by

- a) rise or fall in temperature in consequence of
 - i. failure of the frozen food cabinet freezer cold room cold store or refrigerator due to its own inherent devices or accidental means
 - ii. the accidental failure of the public supply of electricity at the terminal end of the public electricity supply undertaking's service feeders at the **Premises** including (notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary) accidental failure solely due to destruction or damage by fire lightning explosion or earthquake elsewhere than at the said **Premises**
- b) accidental leakage of refrigerant or refrigerant fumes

The **Insurers** will by payment or at their option by reinstatement indemnify the **Insured** against such **Damage** in accordance with the Basis of Settlement - Indemnity

Exclusions

The **Insurers** shall not be liable for

- Damage where the frozen food cabinet freezer cold room cold store or refrigerator is
 - a) over ten years old or
 - b) over two years old and not annually inspected and maintained by a competent person
- 2. **Damage** caused by failure of the public supply of electricity occasioned by the deliberate act of any

- Electricity Authority or by the exercise by any such Authority of its power to withhold or restrict supply
- 3. **Damage** caused by failure to comply with the manufacturers' instructions or the use of components not approved by the manufacturers
- 4. **Damage** caused by
 - a) wear and tear deterioration or gradually developing flaws or defects in the frozen food cabinet freezer cold room cold store or refrigerator
 - b) incorrect setting of thermostatic or automatic controlling devices forming part of the frozen food cabinet freezer cold room cold store or refrigerator
- 5. any amount in excess of the Sums Insured stated in the Schedule

Conditions

- 1. The Insured shall take all reasonable precautions for the safety of the Property and immediately upon having knowledge of any event giving rise or likely to give rise to a claim under this Optional Extension shall give immediate notice thereof to the Insurers and the insurance in respect of the frozen food cabinet freezer cold room cold store or refrigerator shall forthwith cease until the said refrigerated goods cabinet cold room or cold store shall have been repaired to the satisfaction of the Insurers
- 2. The **Insured** shall ensure that all frozen food cabinets freezers cold rooms cold stores or refrigerators are serviced in accordance with the manufacturers' recommended standards

SECTION 2 – BUSINESS INTERRUPTION

Cover

In the event of **Damage** to the **Property** used by the **Insured** for the purposes of the **Business** carried on by the **Insured** at the **Premises** during the Period of Insurance resulting in interruption or interference with the **Business** the **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** in respect of the amount of loss resulting from such interruption or interference

Provided that at the time of the **Damage** there shall be in force an insurance covering the interest of the **Insured** in the **Property** at the **Premises** and that liability shall be admitted or payment made therefore or payment would have been made or liability admitted but for the operation of a proviso in the insurance excluding liability for losses below a specified amount

The liability of the **Insurers** under this Section at the time of the event shall not exceed the Sum Insured or Limit shown in the Schedule for any other item insured under this Section

Basis of Settlement

1. Gross Revenue

The **Insurer** will pay as indemnity to the **Insured** the amount of their loss in respect of each item stated in the Schedule as a result of loss of **Gross Revenue** and/or **Increased Cost of Working**

- a) the amount payable in respect of a reduction in Gross Revenue shall be the sum by which the Gross Revenue shall fall short of the Standard Gross Revenue during the Indemnity Period as a result of Damage
- b) the amount payable in respect of the **Increased Cost of Working** as a result of the **Damage** not exceeding the amount of the reduction in **Gross Revenue** thereby avoided

less any sum saved during the **Indemnity Period** in respect of such charges and expenses of the **Business** payable out of **Gross Revenue** that may cease or be reduced as a result of the **Damage**

Provided that adjustments shall be made as may be necessary to provide for the trend of the **Business** and for variations in or other circumstances affecting the **Business** either before or after the **Damage** or which would have affected the **Business** had the **Damage** not occurred so that the figures thus adjusted shall represent as nearly as may be reasonably practicable the results which but for the **Damage** would have been obtained during the relative period after the **Damage**

2. Additional Increased Cost of Working

The **Insurers** will pay as indemnity to the **Insured** further additional expenses beyond that recoverable under **Gross Revenue** Item b) of the operative **Gross Revenue** Basis of Settlement incurred with the prior written consent of the **Insurers** during the **Indemnity Period** in consequence of the **Damage** for the sole purpose of avoiding or diminishing a reduction in **Turnover** or resuming or maintaining normal business operations but not exceeding the Limit stated in the Schedule

3. Rent Receivable

The Insurers will pay as indemnity to the Insured the amount of their loss in respect of

- a) the amount by which the **Rent Receivable** during the **Indemnity Period** shall fall short of the **Standard Rent Receivable** as a result of the **Damage**
- b) the amount of additional expenditure incurred by the **Insured** with the prior written consent of the **Insurer** as a result of the **Damage** but not exceeding the loss of **Rent Receivable** thereby avoided provided that if the Sum Insured for loss of **Rent Receivable** is less than the **Standard Rent Receivable** the amount payable shall be proportionately reduced

Clauses

1. Automatic Reinstatement

In the absence of written notice by the **Insurers** or the **Insured** to the contrary within 30 days of notification of any loss then in consideration of the insurance not being reduced by the amount of such loss the **Insured** shall pay the appropriate extra premium on the amount of the loss from the date thereof to the expiry of the Period of Insurance

2. Average

Applicable to Basis of Settlement 1. Gross Revenue

If the Sum Insured is less than the **Gross Revenue** for the 12 months (or a proportionately increased multiple thereof where the **Maximum Indemnity Period** as stated in the Schedule exceeds 12 months) immediately prior to the occurrence of **Damage** the amount payable shall be proportionately reduced after due provision has been made for the trend or variation in or other circumstances affecting or which would have affected the **Business** either before or after the **Damage**

Applicable to Basis of Settlement 3. Rent Receivable

If the Sum Insured is less than the **Rent Receivable** for the 12 months (or a proportionately increased multiple thereof where the **Maximum Indemnity Period** as stated in the Schedule exceeds 12 months) immediately prior to the occurrence of the **Damage** the amount payable shall be proportionately reduced after due provision has been made for the trend or variation in or other circumstances affecting or which would have affected the **Business** either before or after the **Damage**

3. Programs and Data

The **Insured** shall

- (a) take all reasonable precautions to prevent accidental loss distortion corruption or erasure of **Programs** or **Data**
- (b) in respect of **Programs** maintain a backup copy of the current version at a location other than the respective **Premises** where the **Media** on which the **Programs** are recorded is situate
- (c) in respect of **Data** maintain a weekly full system backup of **Data** at a location other than the respective **Premises** where the **Media** on which the **Data** is recorded is situate

4. Alternative Trading

If during the **Indemnity Period** work is done or services rendered elsewhere than at the **Premises** for the benefit of the **Business** either by the **Insured** or by others on behalf of the **Insured** the amount paid or payable in respect of such work or services shall be accounted for in arriving at the **Turnover** during the **Indemnity Period**

5. Departmental

If the **Business** is conducted in departments the independent trading results of which are ascertainable the basis of **Gross Revenue** shall apply separately for each department

6. Accountants' and Auditors' Charges

The **Insurers** will pay to the **Insured** the charges payable by the **Insured** to their professional accountants and auditors for producing and certifying any particulars or details or any other proofs information or evidence as may be required by the **Insurers** under the terms of this Section and reporting that such particulars or details are in accordance with the **Insured's** books or documents

Provided that the Insurers liability for charges payable when aggregated with any amount otherwise payable under the Section shall be limited to the applicable Sum Insured or Limit of Liability or other applicable limit

7. Current Cost Accounting

For the purpose of this Section any adjustment implemented in current cost accounting shall be disregarded

8. Value Added Tax

To the extent that the **Insured** is accountable to the tax authorities for Value Added Tax all terms in this Section shall be exclusive of such tax

9. Explosion

In respect of any vessel machinery or apparatus or its contents belonging to or in the custody or control of the **Insured** for which the **Insured** is responsible cover against destruction or damage thereto caused by an explosion originating therein is subject to a policy or other contract providing an inspection service that complies with the statutory regulations applying in respect of such vessel machinery or apparatus

10. Payments on Account

Payments on account will be made to the **Insured** during the **Indemnity Period** if so requested subject to appropriate adjustment at the end of the **Indemnity Period**

Extensions to Section 2

All terms exclusions and conditions under Section 1 and all terms exclusions and conditions of Section 2 apply to these Extensions in addition to those shown below as applying to each Extension

These extensions are operative only if **Gross Revenue** is stated in the Schedule.

The liability of the **Insurers** includes loss as insured by this Section resulting from interruption or interference with the **Business** in consequence of

1. Food or Drink Poisoning

Food or drink poisoning attributable to food or drink supplied at or from the **Premises** Provided that:

- a) the Insurers liability under this extension in any one Period of Insurance will not exceed £100,000 and
- b) Clause Automatic Reinstatement will not apply to this extension.

Extension Definitions

In this extension the following terms shall have the following meanings

If a term below is also defined in the General Definitions the definition below replaces the General

Definition for purposes of this extension

Indemnity Period

Indemnity Period means the period during which the results of the **Business** shall be affected in consequence of the matters set out above beginning with the occurrence or discovery of the incident and ending not later than three months thereafter.

- 2. Closure of Business Premises Murder, Sanitary Arrangements, Vermin
 - a) murder, manslaughter, suicide, or sudden physical injury occurring at the **Premises**
 - b) defects in the drains or other sanitary arrangements at the **Premises** or
 - c) vermin or pest infestation of the **Premises**

which results in the closure of any part of the **Premises** by the order of an authorised competent authority. Provided that:

- the Insurers liability under this extension in any one Period of Insurance will not exceed £100,000 and
- ii) Clause Automatic Reinstatement will not apply to this extension.

For the purpose of Paragraph a) above sudden physical injury does not include disease.

Extension Definitions

In this extension the following terms shall have the following meanings

If a term below is also defined in the General Definitions the definition below replaces the General

Definition for purposes of this extension

Indemnity Period

Indemnity Period means the period during which the results of the **Business** shall be affected in consequence of the matters set out above, beginning with the date from which the restrictions on the **Premises** are applied and ending not later than three months thereafter.

3. Suppliers

Damage at the premises of any of the **Insured's** suppliers manufacturers or processors within the **Territorial Limits** but excluding the premises of any supply undertaking from which the **Insured** obtains electricity gas water or telecommunications services subject to a maximum of £100,000 for any one loss

4. Prevention of Access

Damage to property within a one mile radius of the **Premises** which shall prevent or hinder the use of or access to the **Insured's Premises** whether or not there has been **Damage** to the **Premises** or **Property** of the **Insured** but excluding the property of any supply undertaking from which the **Insured** obtains electricity gas water or telecommunications services subject to a maximum of £50,000 for any one loss

5. Public Utilities – Electricity

Damage to property at any generating station or sub-station of the public electricity supply undertaking from which the **Insured** obtains electricity subject to a maximum of £100,000 for any one loss

Public Utilities – Gas

Damage to property at any land based premises of the public gas supply undertaking or of any natural gas producer linked directly therewith from which the **Insured** obtains gas subject to a maximum of £100,000 for any one loss

7. Public Utilities – Telecommunications

Damage to property at any land based premises of any public telecommunications undertaking from which the **Insured** obtains telecommunications services subject to a maximum of £100,000 for any one loss

8. Public Utilities – Water

Damage to any property at any water works or pumping station of the public water supply undertaking from which the **Insured** obtains water subject to a maximum of £100,000 for any one loss

9. Full Failure of Utilities – Electricity

Accidental failure of the **Insured's** supply of electricity at the terminal ends of the **Insured's** suppliers feed to the **Premises**

The **Insurers** will not indemnify the **Insured** in respect of accidental failure

- a) caused by the deliberate act of any supply authority
- b) caused by the exercise of any supply authority's power to withdraw or restrict supply or services
- c) caused by industrial action
- d) other than within the Territorial Limits
- e) lasting less than 4 consecutive hours

The maximum the **Insurers** will pay for any one claim is £50,000

10. Full Failure of Utilities - Water

Accidental failure of the **Insured's** supply of water at the terminal ends of the **Insured's** suppliers feed to the **Premises**

The **Insurer** will not indemnify the **Insured** in respect of accidental failure

- a) caused by the deliberate act of any supply authority
- b) caused by the exercise of any supply authority's power to withdraw or restrict supply or services
- c) caused by industrial action
- d) caused by drought or other weather conditions unless equipment has been damaged

- e) other than within the Territorial Limits
- f) lasting less than 4 consecutive hours

The maximum the **Insurers** will pay for any one claim is £50,000

11. Full Failure of Utilities – Gas

Accidental failure of the **Insured's** supply of gas at the terminal ends of the Insureds suppliers feed to the **Premises**

The Insurers will not indemnify the Insured in respect of accidental failure

- a) caused by the deliberate act of any supply authority
- b) caused by the exercise of any supply authority's power to withdraw or restrict supply or services
- c) caused by industrial action
- d) other than within the **Territorial Limits**
- e) lasting less than 4 consecutive hours

The maximum the Insurers will pay for any one claim is £50,000

12. Full Failure of Utilities - Telecommunications

Accidental failure of the **Insured's** telecommunications services at the incoming line terminals or receivers at the **Premises**

The **Insurers** will not indemnify the **Insured** in respect of accidental failure

- a) caused by the deliberate act of any supply authority
- b) caused by the exercise of any supply authority's power to withdraw or restrict supply or services
- c) caused by industrial action
- d) caused by atmospheric or weather conditions but this will not exclude accidental failure due to Damage caused by such conditions
- e) caused by failure of any satellite
- f) other than within the Territorial Limits
- g) lasting less than 24 consecutive hours

The maximum the **Insure**rs will pay for any one claim is £50,000

13. Goods in Transit

Damage to **Goods in Transit** if insured by Section 1 and for which the **Insurers** have admitted liability subject to a maximum of 10% of the Sum Insured or £50,000 whichever is the lesser for any one loss

14. Documents

Damage to documents belonging to or held in trust by the **Insured** whilst temporarily at premises not in the occupation of the **Insured** or whilst in transit by road rail or inland waterway in Great Britain Northern Ireland the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man subject to a maximum of £50,000 for any one loss

15. Storage Sites

Damage at any premises in Great Britain Northern Ireland the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man not in the occupation of the **Insured** where **Property** of the **Insured** is stored subject to a maximum of £25,000 for any one loss

16. Contract Sites

Damage at any situation in Great Britain Northern Ireland the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man where the **Insured** is carrying out a contract subject to a maximum of £50,000 for any one loss

17. Public Relations Expenses

In the event of **Damage** at the **Premises** the **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** for the additional expenditure necessarily and reasonably incurred during the **Indemnity Period** of employing suitable public relations personnel to deal with press and public announcements and other activities provided that

- (a) the Maximum Indemnity Period in respect of this extension shall not exceed 3 months
- (b) the **Insurers** shall not be liable for more than £10,000 any one loss

18. Exhibition Expenses

Damage to any premises at which the **Insured** is contracted to participate as an exhibitor and to which such **Damage** causes the cancellation of the participation of the **Insured** in the exhibition subject to a maximum of £25,000 any one loss

The **Insurers** shall not be liable for

- (a) any loss other than those costs for the sole purpose of participating in such exhibition incurred prior to the date of the **Damage**
- (b) any loss as a result of **Damage** at any premises not within the **Territorial Limits** unless specifically stated in the Schedule
- (c) any interruption resulting from a cause not insured by this Section

19. National Lottery Winners

An **Employee** or **Employees** terminating their employment with the **Insured** as a direct result of a confirmed win during the Period of Insurance on the National Lottery in the United Kingdom or Euro Millions Lottery Provided that

- a) The **Insurer's** liability under this extension in total for all claims or series of claims arising out of one original cause shall not exceed £25,000
- b) The *Indemnity Period* under this Extension shall not exceed 1 month
- c) The amount won by any **Employee** or **Employees** is not less than £100,000

Definition applying to this Extension

The following words or phrases have the same meaning whenever they appear in **bold italics** within this Extension

Indemnity Period

The period beginning with the date of the confirmed win on the National Lottery in United Kingdom or the Euro Millions Lottery and ending when the **Business** shall cease to be affected by such win

20. Bomb (Hoax or Actual)

Actual or suspected presence of an incendiary or explosive device

- a) within the Premises
- b) or within five kilometres of the Premises

which shall prevent or hinder the use of the **Premises** or access thereto

Provided that

- a) the liability of the **Insurers** shall be limited to providing indemnity in respect of interruption or interference during
 - i. in respect of a) above the actual period of closure of the **Premises**
 - ii. in respect of b) above the actual period for which the use of the **Premises** is prevented or hindered or access denied
- b) closure of the **Premises** or surrounding area is made at the request of the appropriate competent authority
- c) loss resulting from interruption to or interference with the **Business** not exceeding two hours in duration is excluded
- d) loss resulting from interruption to or interference with the **Business** in consequence of any **Damage** caused by the device (as opposed to its presence or suspected presence) is excluded

The maximum the **Insurers** will pay for any one claim is £25,000

Exclusions to Section 2

- 1. The **Insurers** shall not be liable if after the commencement of this insurance
 - a) the **Business** is wound up or permanently discontinued or the **Insured** becomes bankrupt or the **Business** is carried on by a liquidator
 - b) the interest of the **Insured** ceases other than by death
- 2. The Insurers shall not be liable under this Section for loss arising directly or indirectly from

- a) failure of any satellite prior to its obtaining its full operating function or while in or beyond the final year of its design life
- b) atmospheric solar or lunar conditions causing temporary interference with transmission to or from any satellite
- 3. The Insurers shall not be liable under this Section for loss arising directly or indirectly from
 - erasure loss distortion or corruption of information on Computer Systems or other records programs or software caused deliberately by rioters strikers locked out workers persons taking part in labour disturbances or civil commotion or malicious persons
 - b) other erasure loss distortion or corruption of information on **Computer Systems** or other records programs or software unless resulting from the **Defined Perils** insofar as it is not otherwise excluded

Additional Cover

Outstanding Debit Balances

Definition

As used in this extension

Outstanding Debit Balances means the total declared in the statement last given in accordance with the provisions of the Note below adjusted for

- a) bad debts
- b) amounts debited (or invoiced but not debited) and credited (including credit notes and cash not passed through the books at the time of **Damage**) to customers' accounts in the period between the date to which said last statement relates and the date of the **Damage**
- c) any abnormal condition of trade which had or could have had a material effect on the business so that the figures thus adjusted shall represent as nearly as reasonably practicable those which would have been obtained at the date of the **Damage** had the **Damage** not occurred

Cover

The insurance provided by this Business Interruption Section extends to cover untraceable or unestablishable **Outstanding Debit Balances** in whole or in part due to the **Insured** as a result of the **Insured's** books of account or other business books or records being the subject of **Damage** as insured by this Business Interruption Section

Subject to the Sum Insured specified in the Schedule in respect of any one Event in respect of **Outstanding Debit Balances** directly due to such **Damage** the **Insurers** will pay to the **Insured**

- a) the difference between
 - i. the Outstanding Debit Balances and
 - ii. the total of the amounts received or traced in respect thereof
- b) the additional expenditure incurred with the previous consent of the **Insurers** in tracing and establishing customers' debit balances after the **Damage**

provided that if the Sum Insured by this item be less than the **Outstanding Debit Balances** the amount payable shall be proportionately reduced

The **Insured** shall ensure that the books of account or other business books or records in which customers' accounts are shown shall be kept in fire resisting safes or fire resisting cabinets when not in use

Note

The **Insured** shall within thirty days of the end of each month prepare and retain a signed statement showing the total amount outstanding in customers' accounts as set out in the **Insured's** accounts as at the end of the said month

On the expiry of the Period of Insurance the actual premium shall be calculated at the rate per cent per annum on the average amount insured i.e. the total of the sums declared divided by the number of declarations If the actual premium shall be less than the premium paid for this cover the difference shall be repaid to the **Insured** but such repayment shall not exceed 50% of the said paid premium

If the amount of a declaration exceeds the sum insured applicable at the date of such declaration then for the purposes of this note only the **Insured** shall be deemed to have declared such a sum insured

In consideration of the insurance not being reduced by the amount of any loss the **Insured** shall pay the appropriate extra premium on the amount of the loss from the date thereof to the date of the expiry of the Period of Insurance

The burden of proving that any **Outstanding Debit Balances** are untraceable or unestablishable as a result of **Damage** shall be upon the **Insured**

SECTION 4 – EMPLOYERS LIABILITY

Section Definition

The following words or phrases have the same meaning wherever they appear, in **bold italics**, within this Section.

Territorial Limits

- a. Great Britain Northern Ireland the Isle of Man or the Channel Islands
- b. elsewhere in the world in respect of **Injury** sustained by any **Employee** resident within the territories specified in a. above and caused whilst such **Employee** is temporarily outside these territories provided that any action for compensation in respect of such **Bodily Injury** is brought in a court of law within the territories specified in a. above or any other member country of the European Union

Cover

1. Bodily Injury

In the event of **Bodily Injury** sustained by any **Employee** of the **Insured** caused during the Period of Insurance and arising out of and in the course of their employment by the **Insured** for the purposes of the **Business** within the **Territorial Limits** the **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** in respect of all sums for which the **Insured** become legally liable to pay as **Compensation** for **Bodily Injury**

2. Claimant's Costs and Expenses

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** subject to the Limit of Indemnity in respect of all sums the **Insured** shall become legally liable to pay as claimants' costs and expenses in connection with the indemnity provided under Cover clause - **Bodily Injury**

3. Defence Costs and Expenses

The **Insurers** will also indemnify the **Insured** subject to the Limit of Indemnity stated in the Schedule in respect of all

- a) costs of legal representation reasonably incurred with the Insurers written consent at any
 - i. coroner's inquest or other inquiry in respect of any death
 - ii. proceeding in a court (other than in the defence of any criminal proceeding brought or in an appeal against a conviction arising from such criminal proceeding) in respect of any act or omission causing or relating to any matter
- b) other costs and expenses reasonably incurred with the **Insurers** written consent in relation to any matter

which may be the subject of indemnity under Cover clause - Bodily Injury

Limit of Indemnity

The liability of the **Insurers** under this Section for **Compensation** for **Bodily Injury** in respect of any one occurrence or all occurrences of a series consequent on or attributable to one source or original cause inclusive of all claimant's and defence costs and expenses shall not exceed the Limit of Indemnity stated in the Schedule

Extensions to Section 4

1. Court Attendance Compensation

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** for the costs of attendance at court to help defend or act as a witness in connection with any claim for which the **Insured** is entitled to indemnity under this Section and with the **Insurers** agreement up to a maximum of £750 for any director or partner of the **Insured** and up to a maximum

of £250 for any Employee of the Insured

2. Health and Safety at Work – Legal Defence Costs

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** and at the **Insured's** request any director or partner of the **Insured** or any **Employee** subject to the Limit of Indemnity as stated in the schedule against of all legal costs or other expenses reasonably incurred in defending prosecutions for a breach of the Health and Safety at Work Act

1974 or similar legislation in Northern Ireland the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man committed or alleged to have been committed in the course of the **Business** during the Period of Insurance

The **Insurers** will also pay prosecution costs awarded and the costs incurred with its written consent in appealing against any judgement given

Provided that this indemnity shall not apply to the payment of fines or penalties

3. Indemnity to Other Parties

If the **Insured** so request the **Insurers** will indemnify the following parties

- a) any officer or committee member or other member of the **Insured's** canteen social sports or welfare organisations or ambulance first aid fire medical or security services (but excluding medical practitioners) against liability incurred in such capacity
- b) any partner director or **Employee** of the **Insured** against liability incurred in such capacity and in respect of which the **Insured** would have been entitled to indemnity under this Section if the claim had been made against the **Insured** as though each party was individually named as the **Insured** in this Section
- c) any **Principal** for whom the **Insured** have agreed to execute work under contract or agreement against liability arising out of the performance of such work by the **Insured** and in respect of which the **Insured** are legally liable and would have been entitled to indemnity under this Section if the claim had been made against the **Insured**

Provided that

- i. each such party shall observe fulfil and be subject to the terms and conditions of this Section insofar as they can apply
- ii. the **Insurers** liability to the **Insured** and all parties indemnified shall not exceed in total the Limit of Indemnity stated in the Schedule

4. Unsatisfied Court Judgments

In the event of a judgment for damages being obtained by any **Employee** or the personal representatives of any **Employee** in respect of **Injury** caused to the **Employee** during any Period of Insurance and occurring in connection with the **Business** against any person or company operating from premises in Great Britain Northern Ireland the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man in any court situate in these territories and remaining unsatisfied in whole or in part six months after the date of such judgment the **Insurers** will at the **Insured's** request pay to the **Employee** or the personal representatives of the **Employee** the amount of such damages and any awarded costs to the extent that they remain unsatisfied

Provided that

- a) there is no appeal outstanding
- b) if any payment is made under the terms of this extension the **Employee** or the personal representatives of the **Employee** shall assign the judgment to the **Insurers**

5. Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide – Legal Defence Costs

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** against all legal costs or other expenses reasonably incurred with the **Insurers** written consent in defending prosecutions under the Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007 committed or alleged to have been committed in the course of the **Business** during the Period of Insurance

The **Insurers** will also pay prosecution costs awarded and the costs incurred with its written consent in appealing against any judgment given provided that this indemnity shall not apply to the payment of fines

or penalties or the costs of remedial orders or publicity orders.

The **Insurers** Limit of Indemnity under this extension and any equivalent extension under Section 5 Public & Products Liability shall not exceed in the aggregate £1,000,000 in respect of all acts or omissions committed or alleged to have been committed during the Period of Insurance and shall be in addition to the amount of the Limit of Indemnity stated in the Schedule

Exclusions to Section 4

The indemnity granted under this Section shall not apply to

- 1. liability in respect of **Bodily Injury** to any **Employee** arising out of the ownership possession or use by or on behalf of the **Insured** of any mechanically propelled vehicle or trailer attached thereto if such liability is required by any road traffic legislation to be the subject of compulsory insurance or other security
- 2. liability in respect of **Bodily Injury** to any **Employee** who is working in or on any **Offshore Installation** or any support vessel for any **Offshore Installation** or whilst in transit to or from any **Offshore Installation** or support vessel

Conditions

- Certificate of Employers' Liability Insurance
 If this Policy or Section is cancelled any Certificate of Employers' Liability Insurance is similarly cancelled from
 the same date
- 2. Compulsory Insurance Legislation

The indemnity granted by this Section is deemed to be in accordance with the provisions of any law relating to compulsory insurance of liability to **Employees** in the **Territorial Limits** but the **Insured** shall repay to the **Insurers** all sums paid by the **Insurers** which the **Insurers** would not have been liable to pay but for the provisions of such law

3. Discharge of Liability

The Insurers may at any time pay to the Insured in connection with any claim or series of claims

- a) the amount of the Limit of Indemnity or
- any lesser amount for which such claim or claims can be settled less any sum or sums already paid as
 Compensation for Bodily Injury claimant's and defence costs and expenses recoverable prior to the date of such payment

On payment the **Insurers** shall relinquish the conduct and control of and be under no further liability in connection with such claim or claims except for the payment of costs and expenses incurred prior to the date of such payment

4. Other Insurances

If any claim under this Section is also covered in whole or in part by any other existing insurance or by an indemnity from any other source the liability of the **Insurers** shall be limited to any excess beyond the amount which would have been payable under such other insurance or from such other source had this Section not been effected

SECTION 5 – PUBLIC & PRODUCTS LIABILITY

Section Definitions

The following words or phrases have the same meaning wherever they appear, in **bold italics**, within this Section.

Damage

- a) physical loss of or damage to tangible property including attendant loss of use of such property
- b) nuisance trespass or interference with any easement right of air light water or way

Financial Loss

Financial loss unaccompanied by either Injury or Damage

Territorial Limits

- a) Great Britain Northern Ireland the Isle of Man or the Channel Islands
- b) elsewhere in the world other than the United States of America or Canada or their dependencies or trust territories
 - in respect of temporary non-manual work undertaken by the Insured or any Employee ordinarily resident in
 - a) above provided that any action for compensation is brought in a court of law within the territories specified in a) above or any other member country of the European Union
- and in respect **Products Supplied** anywhere in the world except for the United States of America or Canada or their dependencies or trust territories unless specifically agreed by the **Insurers** provided that the **Products Supplied** are supplied from or are worked upon in the territories specified in a) above

Cover

1. Legal Liability

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** subject to the Limit of Indemnity in respect of all sums which the **Insured** shall become legally liable to pay as **Compensation** for and arising out of accidental **Injury** or **Damage** occurring during the Period of Insurance and arising in connection with the **Business** within the **Territorial Limits**

2. Claimants' Costs and Expenses

The **Insurers** will in addition to the Limit of Indemnity indemnify the **Insured** in respect of all sums the **Insured** shall become legally liable to pay as claimants' costs and expenses in connection with the indemnity provided under Cover Clause 1 Legal Liability

3. Defence Costs and Expenses

The Insurers will in addition to the Limit of Indemnity indemnify the Insured in respect of all

- a) costs of legal representation reasonably incurred with the **Insurers** written consent at any
 - i. coroner's inquest or other inquiry in respect of any death
 - ii. proceeding in a court (other than in the defence of any criminal proceedings brought or in an appeal against conviction arising from such criminal proceeding) in respect of any act or omission causing or relating to any matter
- other costs and expenses reasonably incurred with the **Insurers** written consent in relation to any matter which may be the subject of indemnity under Cover Clause 1 Legal Liability

Limit of Indemnity

The liability of the Insurers under this Section for Compensation in respect of

- a) one occurrence or all occurrences of a series consequent on or attributable to one source or original cause
- b) all **Injury** and damage occurring during any one Period of Insurance in respect of **Products Supplied**
- c) all Pollution or Contamination which is deemed to have occurred during any Period of Insurance

shall not exceed the Limit of Indemnity stated in the Schedule

Costs inclusive in USA and Canada

Where indemnity is provided by this Section for liability in respect of occurrences in the United States of America or Canada or their dependencies or trust territories the Limit of Indemnity stated in the Schedule shall be the maximum amount payable by the **Insurers** inclusive of all costs and expenses

Extensions to Section 5

- 1. Consumer Protection or Health and Safety at Work Act or Food Safety Act Legal Defence Costs The Insurers will in addition to the Limit of Indemnity indemnify the Insured and at the request of the Insured any partner director or Employee of the Insured in respect of all legal costs or other expenses reasonably incurred with the Insurers written consent in the defence of any criminal proceeding brought or in an appeal against a conviction arising from such criminal proceeding in respect of a breach of
 - a) the Consumer Protection Act 1987 or any amending legislation
 - b) the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 or the Health and Safety at Work (Northern Ireland) Order 1978 or any similar United Kingdom health and safety legislation or regulation or
 - c) the Food Safety Act 1990 or any amending legislation committed or alleged to have been committed during the Period of Insurance in connection with the **Business**

Provided that

- a) in relation to an appeal counsel has advised there are strong prospects of such appeal succeeding
- b) the proceedings do not relate to the health safety or welfare of an **Employee**
- c) the indemnity will not apply to
 - i. proceedings consequent upon a deliberate act or omission
 - ii. fines or penalties of any kind
 - iii. the bringing of an appeal solely regarding the amount of a fine or penalty
 - iv. any circumstances where indemnity is provided by any other insurance or where but for the existence of this Extension indemnity would have been provided by such other insurance

2. Court Attendance Compensation

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** for the costs of attendance at court to help defend or act as a witness in connection with any claim for which the **Insured** is entitled to indemnity under this Section and with the **Insurers** agreement up to a maximum of £750 for any director or partner of the **Insured** and up to a maximum of £250 for any **Employee** of the **Insured**

3. Cross Liabilities

Where the **Insured** comprises more than one party the **Insurers** shall treat each party as the **Insured** as if a separate Policy had been issued to each provided that nothing in this extension shall increase the liability of the **Insurers** beyond the amount for which the **Insurers** would have been liable had this extension not applied

4. Data Protection

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** and at the request of the **Insured** any partner director or **Employee** of the **Insured** subject to the limit of liability stated in paragraph e) below in respect of all sums they become legally obligated to pay as **Compensation** for damage or distress only under Article 82 of the **GDPR** including

claimants' costs and expenses in connection with that claim for **Compensation** and with the written consent of the **Insurers**

- a) the reasonable defence costs and expenses incurred
- b) the reasonable defence costs incurred relating to a prosecution or to defend a claim made by any person brought under the **GDPR**

Provided that

- a) a claim for **Compensation** is first made or a prosecution is first brought against the **Insured** during the
- b) the **Insured** has taken all reasonable steps to comply with the requirements of the **GDPR**
- c) the indemnity will not apply to
 - i. fines or penalties of any kind
 - ii. the cost of replacing reinstating rectifying erasing blocking or destroying data
 - iii. indemnify the **Insured** or any partner director or **Employee** of the **Insured** in respect of liability caused by or arising from a deliberate or intentional act or omission of any such party or person the effect of which knowingly resulted in liability under the **GDPR**
 - iv. claims which arise out of circumstances notified to previous insurers or that are known to the **Insured** or any partner director or **Employee** of the **Insured** and likely to give rise to indemnity under this extension at the start of the Period of Insurance
 - v. liability for which indemnity is provided under any other insurance
 - vi. liability which arises as a result of the provision by the **Insured** in connection with the **Business** of services for the processing of data on behalf of a person firm or company other than the **Insured** or any partner director or **Employee** of the **Insured**
 - vii. liability which arises as a result of the recording or provision of data for reward or for determining the financial status of any person
- d) the **Excess** in respect of each and every claim arising under this extension is 10% of the cost of such claim or £500 whichever is the greater
- e) the **Insurers** limit of liability under this extension shall not exceed £500,000 during any one Period of Insurance

5. Defective Premises Act

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** in respect of any legal liability incurred by the **Insured** during the Period of Insurance under the terms of the Defective Premises Act 1972 or the Defective Premises (Northern Ireland) Order 1975 in connection with any business premises or land which have been disposed of by the **Insured**

Provided that the **Insurers** shall not be liable

- a) for the cost of remedying any defect or alleged defect in the premises disposed of
- b) if the **Insured** is entitled to indemnity from any other source

6. Indemnity to Other Parties

If the **Insured** so request the **Insurers** will indemnify the following parties

- a) any officer or committee member or other member of the Insured's canteen social sports or welfare organisations or ambulance first aid fire medical or security services (but excluding medical practitioners) against liability incurred in such capacity
- b) any partner director or Employee of the Insured against liability incurred in such capacity and in respect of which the Insured would have been entitled to indemnity under this Section if the claim had been made against the Insured as though each party was individually named as the Insured in this Section
- c) any **Principal** for whom the **Insured** have agreed to execute work under contract or agreement against liability arising out of the performance of such work by the **Insured** and in respect of which the **Insured** are legally liable and would have been entitled to indemnity under this Section if the claim had been made against the **Insured**

Provided that

i. each such party shall observe fulfil and be subject to the terms and conditions of this Section insofar as

they can apply

ii. the **Insurers** liability to the **Insured** and all parties indemnified shall not exceed in total the Limit of Indemnity stated in the Schedule

7. Motor Contingent Liability

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** subject to the Limit of Indemnity stated in the Schedule against legal liability arising out of the use of any motor vehicle in the course of the **Business** anywhere in Great Britain Northern Ireland the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man

Provided that the **Insurers** shall not be liable for

- a) any vehicle owned or provided by the **Insured** or any **Principal** for whom the **Insured** is working or any sub-contractor acting for or on behalf of the **Insured**
- b) damage to such vehicle or to goods conveyed in or on it
- c) any vehicle being driven by the Insured
- d) any vehicle being driven by any person who to the knowledge of the **Insured** or of the **Insured's** representative does not hold a licence to drive such vehicle unless such person has held and is not disqualified from holding or obtaining such a licence
- e) in respect of which the **Insured** is entitled to indemnity under any other insurance

8. Overseas Personal Liability

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** subject to the Limit of Indemnity stated in the Schedule and if the **Insured** so request any director or partner of the **Insured** or any **Employee** or spouse of such person against

legal liability incurred in a personal capacity whilst temporarily outside Great Britain Northern Ireland the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man in connection with the **Business**

The indemnity shall not apply to legal liability

- a) arising out of ownership or occupation of land and buildings
- b) in respect of which any person referred to above is entitled to indemnity under any other insurance

9. Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide – Legal Defence Costs

The **Insurers** will indemnify the **Insured** against costs of legal representation reasonably incurred with the **Insurer's** written consent in defending prosecutions under the Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007 Committed or alleged to have been committed in the course of the **Business** during the Period of Insurance

The **Insurers** will also pay prosecution costs awarded and the costs incurred with its written consent in appealing against any judgment given provided that this indemnity shall not apply to the payment of fines or penalties or the costs of remedial orders or publicity orders

The **Insurers** Limit of Indemnity under this extension and any equivalent extension under Section 4 Employers Liability shall not exceed in the aggregate £1,000,000 in respect of all acts or omissions committed or alleged to have been committed during the Period of Insurance and shall be in addition to the amount of the Limit of Indemnity stated in the Schedule

10. Property in the Insured's Custody or

Control Section Exclusion 8 shall not apply

to

- the personal effects (including vehicles and its contents) of any visitor or partner director or Employee
 of the Insured
- b) any premises (including their fixtures fittings and contents) not owned by or leased rented or hired to the **Insured** that are temporarily occupied by an **Insured** for the purpose of carrying out work therein or thereon
- any premises (including their fixtures and fittings) leased rented or hired to the **Insured** provided that the **Insurers** will not provide indemnity in respect of
 - i. liability assumed by the **Insured** under a tenancy or other agreement unless liability would have attached in the absence of such tenancy or other agreement

ii. the first £500 (or any applicable Deductible applying to the Section if greater) of each and every occurrence of loss or damage caused to any such premises fixtures or fittings other than by fire or explosion

Exclusions to Section 5

The indemnity granted under this Section shall not apply to

1. Advice and Design

Liability arising from advice design formula specification inspection certification or testing provided by or on behalf of the **Insured** for a fee or in circumstances where a fee would normally be charged

2. Damage to Goods Supplied

Liability in respect of

- a) damage to any goods or other property sold supplied delivered installed or erected by or on behalf of the **Insured**
- b) all costs of or arising from the need for making good removal repair rectification replacement or recall of any such goods or property or any defective work carried out by or on behalf of the **Insured**

3. Safety Critical Products and Exports to USA and Canada

Liability in respect of

- a) any Products Supplied which to the knowledge of the Insured are to be used as a safety critical part in connection with hovercraft watercraft drilling platforms or rigs motor vehicles railways railway locomotives or carriages operational areas of gas chemical nuclear petrochemical or power generation plants or mines
- b) any **Products Supplied** comprising or incorporated in or on any aircraft spacecraft or military or naval missile
- c) liability arising out of **Products Supplied** comprising or incorporated in ground support or control
 equipment used for the purpose of guidance navigation or direction of any aircraft spacecraft or military
 or naval missile
- d) any **Products Supplied** knowingly exported directly or indirectly to the United States of America or Canada or their dependencies or trust territories

Fines

Liability in respect of liquidated damages fines penalties exemplary punitive aggravated or multiplied damages

5. Injury to Employees

Liability in respect of **Injury** to any **Employee** arising out of and in the course of the employment or engagement of such person by the **Insured**

6. Mechanically Propelled Vehicles

Liability arising out of the ownership possession or use by or on behalf of the **Insured** of any mechanically propelled vehicle or trailer attached thereto which is required by any road traffic legislation to be the subject of compulsory insurance or other security but this Exclusion shall not apply

- a) while such vehicle is being used as a tool of trade (other than in respect of liability which is compulsorily insurable under road traffic legislation)
- b) in respect of the loading or unloading of such vehicle or the delivery or collection of goods to or from such vehicle except where more specifically insured by any other policy

7. Pollution or Contamination Liability arising

- a) out of **Pollution or Contamination** unless caused by a sudden identifiable unintended and unexpected incident which takes place in its entirety at a specific time and place during the Period of Insurance provided that all **Pollution or Contamination** arising out of one incident shall be deemed to have occurred at the time such incident takes place
- b) directly or indirectly by **Pollution or Contamination** occurring in the United States of America or Canada or their dependencies or trust territories

8. Property in the Charge or Control of the Insured

Liability in respect of loss or damage to any property belonging to or in the charge or control of the Insured

9. Vessels or Craft

Liability arising out of ownership possession or use by or on behalf of the **Insured** of any vessel or craft designed to travel in on or through water air (including drones and other unmanned aerial vehicles) or space (other than hand propelled watercraft)

10. Work on Offshore Installations

Liability in respect of Injury loss or damage in or on any **Offshore Installation** or any support vessel for any **Offshore Installation** or support vessel

11. Contractual Liability

Liability which attaches because of a contract or agreement but which would not have attached in the absence of such contract or agreement

12. Overseas Representation

Liability caused by or arising from any action brought against the **Insured** in any country which is not a member of the European Union where the **Insured** have a branch or a parent or a subsidiary company or are represented by a person or company holding the **Insured's** Power of Attorney

13. Financial Loss

Liability for Financial Loss

14. Healthcare

Liability for **Bodily Injury** arising from an act or omission in the provision of or failure to provide Health Care but this shall not apply (in so far as indemnity is otherwise provided) in respect of legal liability directly or indirectly resulting from caused by contributed to attributed to or in any way related to **Abuse**

For the purpose of this exclusion

- Health Care means health care (but not First Aid) rendered by members of the health care and allied services or by others consequent on decisions or judgements made by such members
 Such members shall include
 - i. medical and dental practitioners
 - ii. nurses
 - iii. midwives
 - iv. pharmacists
 - v. professions allied to medicine
 - vi. care assistants and nursing auxiliaries
 - vii. ambulance personnel
 - viii. laboratory technicians
 - ix. social workers
- b) First Aid means emergency care (other than pre planned emergency treatment for specific individuals) given immediately to an injured or sick person by any director partner or **Employee** of the **Insured** in the course of carrying out their duties when undertaking the **Insured's Business**

15. Heat Work Away

Liability arising out of any work away from premises owned or leased or rented by the **Insured** involving the use of grinding wheels cutting discs angle grinders electric oxy-acetylene or other welding or cutting equipment blow torches blow lamps or flame guns or hot air guns heated tar bitumen or asphalt or any other process involving the application of heat other than this exclusion shall not apply to the use of electric soldering iron

16. Loss of Information

Liability in respect of loss of information or the provision of wrong information in or from computer programs tapes or data recording equipment unless as a direct consequence of physical loss of or damage to tangible property

17. Asbestos

Insurers will not be liable in respect of any actual or alleged liability whatsoever for any claim or claims in respect of loss or losses directly or indirectly caused by, arising out of, resulting from, in consequence of, in any way involving, or to the extent contributed to by, the hazardous nature of asbestos or any materials containing asbestos in whatever from or quantity

18. Silica

In respect of legal liability inclusive of claimants' and defence costs and expenses arising out of an Event occurring within the United States of America its territories and possessions Puerto Rico and Canada directly or indirectly resulting from caused by contributed to attributed to or in any way related to

- a) the actual alleged or threatened absorption ingestion or inhalation of silica in any form or in combination with any other particulate suspension or dust by any person or
- b) the existence of silica in any form or in combination with any other particulate suspension or dust

19. Pharma Exclusion

Liability in respect of **Injury** arising from any pharmaceutical drug or medicine unless that **Injury** arises from contamination or deterioration of the pharmaceutical drug or medicine as a direct result of incorrect storage by the **Insured**

Conditions

1. Discharge of Liability

The **Insurers** may at any time pay to the **Insured** in connection with any claim or series of claims

- a) the amount of the Limit of Indemnity or
- b) any lesser amount for which such claim or claims can be settled less any sum or sums already paid as compensation claimant's and defence costs and expenses recoverable prior to the date of such payment

On payment the **Insurers** shall relinquish the conduct and control of and be under no further liability in connection with such claim or claims except for the payment of costs and expenses incurred prior to the date of such payment

2. Other Insurances

If any claim under this Section is also covered in whole or in part by any other existing insurance or by an indemnity from any other source the liability of the **Insurers** shall be limited to any excess beyond the amount which would have been payable under such other insurance or from such other source had this Section not been effected

3. Bona Fide Subcontractors

It is a condition of this insurance that in respect of injury loss destruction or damage arising out of work carried out on behalf of the **Insured** by bona fide subcontractors commencing during the Period of Insurance that the **Insured** obtain and retain a written record that such subcontractors have in force throughout the duration of any work undertaken by them for the **Insured** the following insurance

a) Employers' Liability insurance in accordance with any law relating to compulsory insurance of liability

- to employees
- b) Public Liability insurance covering legal liability for **Injury** to any person other than described in a) above and loss destruction or damage to property with a limit of indemnity of not less than the Limit of Indemnity stated in the Schedule

This condition shall not apply where bona fide subcontractors are engaged to carry out work on behalf of the **Insured** in an emergency and there is insufficient time to obtain a written record from such subcontractor provided that the **Insured** shall obtain verbal confirmation and confirm such confirmation in writing and retain a copy as a written record

SECTION 6 – TERRORISM

This Section of the Policy is operative only if stated in the Schedule

Section Definitions

The following words or phrases have the same meaning wherever they appear, in **bold italics**, within this Section.

Class B General Cover

direct insurance cover (excluding cover in respect of an Act of Terrorism) relating to losses falling under the *Class B Head of Cover* in the Territory

Class B Head of Cover

any direct Non Damage Business Interruption insurance cover whether the item insured is insured under separate policies, under separate terms of a policy or under separate sections of combined or package policies

Covered Loss

All losses arising under any of the *Heads of Cover* (other than *Class B Head of Cover*) as a result of damage to or destruction of *Property* in the *Territory* the proximate cause of which is an **Act of Terrorism** and

All losses arising under the Class B Head of Cover

In respect of the *Class B Head of Cover Covered Loss* means all losses arising under the *Class B Head of Cover* as a result of interruption or interference with the business of the *Insured* in consequence of murder manslaughter suicide or sudden physical injury occurring at the Premises which results in the closure of any part of the *Premises* by the order of an authorised competent authority the proximate cause of which is an *Act of Terrorism* Provided that

- i) the Insurers liability under this extension in any one Period of Insurance will not exceed £100,000 and
- ii) Clause Automatic Reinstatement will not apply to this extension but in no event shall the maximum *Indemnity Period* be exceeded

For the purpose of losses under *Class B Head of Cover*

- i) sudden physical injury does not include disease.
- ii) regardless of any other definition elsewhere *Indemnity Period* means the period during which the results of the business shall be affected in consequence of the matters set out above, beginning with the date from which the restrictions on the **Premises** are applied and ending not later than three months thereafter

Computer Systems

A computer or other equipment or component or system or item which processes stores transmits or receives **Data**

Damage

loss destruction or damage

Data

Data of any sort whatever, including without limitation tangible or intangible data, and any programs or software bandwidth cryptographic keys databases documents domain names or network addresses or anything similar file interfaces metadata platforms processing capability storage media transaction gateways, user credentials websites or any information whatever

Denial of Service Attack

Any actions or instructions constructed or generated with the ability to damage, interfere with or otherwise affect the availability or performance of networks network services network connectivity or *Computer*

Systems Denial of Service Attacks include but are not limited to the generation of excess traffic into network addresses the exploitation of system or network weaknesses the generation of excess or non-genuine traffic between and amongst networks and the procurement of such actions or instructions by other **Computer Systems**

Event

All individual losses arising in respect of a continuous period of 72 hours of which the proximate cause is the same act of terrorism

The date and time that any such period of 72 hours shall commence shall be set by the Insurers

Head of Cover

Any of the following types of cover:

- a) Buildings and Completed Structures
- b) Other property (including contents, engineering, contractors and computers)
- c) Business Interruption
- d) Book Debts
- e) Class B Head of Cover

Provided always that each *Head of Cover* shall be deemed to be a separate *Head of Cover* whether the item insured is insured under separate policies, under separate terms of a policy or under separate sections of combined or package policies

Nuclear Installation

Any installation of such class or description as may be prescribed by regulations made by the relevant Secretary of State from time to time by statutory instrument, being an installation designed or adapted for:

- a) the production or use of atomic energy;
- b) the carrying out of any process which is preparatory or ancillary to the production or use of atomic energy and which involves or is capable of causing the emission of ionising radiations; or
- c) the storage, processing or disposal of nuclear fuel or of bulk quantities of other radioactive matter, being matter which has been produced or irradiated in the course of the production or use of nuclear fuel

Nuclear Reactor

Any plant (including any machinery, equipment or appliance, whether affixed to land or not) designed or adapted for the production of atomic energy by a fission process in which a controlled chain reaction can be maintained without an additional source of neutrons

Phishing

Any access or attempted access to Data made by means of misrepresentation or deception.

Private Individual

Any person other than

- a beneficiary trustee or body of trustees where insurance is arranged in accordance with the terms of a trust
- a person who owns or is otherwise insured in respect of Residential Property for their business as a sole trader
- a person who owns or is otherwise insured in respect of Residential Property of which in excess of 20% is commercially occupied

Provided that if the property is a private dwelling house or a self-contained unit insured as part of a block of flats and is occupied as a private residence by a beneficiary or a trustee of the trust in question or sole trader or by a beneficiary or an executor of the will in question or the property is located in premises owned by any such person the property insured shall be deemed to be insured in the name of a private Individual.

The definition of Private Individual shall include two or more persons where insurance is arranged in their several names and/or the name of the Insured includes the name of a bank or building society or other financial institution for the purpose of noting their interest in the property insured.

Property

property but excluding

- a) any land or building which is occupied as a private residence or any part thereof which is so occupied unless
 - i. insured under the same contract of insurance as the remainder of the building which is not a private residence or
 - ii. not insured in the name of an individual
- b) any Nuclear Installation or Nuclear Reactor and all fixtures and fittings situated thereon and attached thereto and all pipes wires cables drains or other conduits or service media of any description which are affixed or connected to or in any way serve such Nuclear Installation or Nuclear Reactor

Residential Property

Private dwelling houses and flats (including household contents and personal effects as insured)

Territory

England, Wales, and Scotland but not the territorial sea adjacent thereto as defined by the Territorial Sea Act 1987

Virus or Similar Mechanism

Program code programming instruction or any set of instructions constructed with the purpose and ability or purposely used to damage interfere with adversely affect infiltrate or monitor computer programs **Computer Systems Data** or operations whether involving self-replication or not

The definition of *Virus or Similar Mechanism* includes but is not limited to trojan horses worms and logic bombs and the exploitation of bugs or vulnerabilities in a computer program to damage interfere with adversely affect infiltrate or monitor as above

Cover

In consideration of the payment of the Terrorism Premium for the relevant Period of Insurance the insurance by this Policy is extended (subject to the Exclusions below) to include

- all losses arising under any of the *Heads of Cover* (other than *Class B Head of Cover*) as a result of damage to or destruction of *Property* in the *Territory* the proximate cause of which is an **Act of** Terrorism
- b) all losses arising under the *Class B Head of Cover* as a result of interruption or interference with your business in consequence of:
 - murder manslaughter suicide or sudden physical injury occurring at the **Premises** which results in the closure of any part of the **Premises** by the order of an authorised competent authority the proximate cause of which is an **Act of Terrorism**

Provided that

- i) the **Insurers** liability under this extension in any one Period of Insurance will not exceed £100,000 and
- ii) Clause Automatic Reinstatement will not apply to this extension but in no event shall the maximum *Indemnity Period* be exceeded

For the purpose of losses under *Class B Head of Cover*

- a) sudden physical injury does not include disease
- b) regardless of any other definition elsewhere *Indemnity Period* means the period during which the results of the business shall be affected in consequence of the matters set out above, beginning with the date from which the restrictions on the **Premises** are applied and ending not later than three months thereafter

As insured by this Policy in the Territories stated below

Provided that Insurers liability shall not exceed in any one Period of Insurance

- in all the total sum insured
- for any item its sum insured or any other stated limit of liability in the Schedule or elsewhere in the Policy
- In respect of any loss under cover b) the *Class B Head of Cover* for Terrorism under this Endorsement **Insurers** liability in respect of Cover b) shall not exceed £100,000 in respect of any one event and in the aggregate in any one Period of Insurance.

whichever is the less

Subject always to the Limits applying to Terrorism insurance shown against the Territories stated below after application of all insurance provisions including any excess

Territory Limit of Liability
England, Wales, and Scotland As specified in policy
Elsewhere in the world Not insured

Exclusions to Section 6

The insurance by this Section is subject to the terms, conditions and exclusions of the relevant section of cover and not subject to the General Exclusions of the policy except the following

This terrorism Insurance does not cover

- a) any loss whatsoever directly or indirectly caused by or contributed to by or arising from riot civil commotion war invasion act of foreign enemy hostilities (whether war be declared or not) civil war rebellion revolution insurrection or military or usurped power
- b) any loss whatsoever directly or indirectly caused by or contributed to by or arising from or occasioned by or resulting from
 - 1) damage to or the destruction of any *Computer System* or
 - 2) any alteration, modification, distortion, erasure or corruption of *Data*

in each case whether your property or not, where such loss is directly or indirectly caused by or contributed to, by or arising from or occasioned by or resulting from Virus or Similar Mechanism or **Hacking** or **Phishing** or **Denial of Service Attack**

Proviso to Exclusion b)

This proviso applies only to

Heads of cover

- a) Buildings and Completed Structures covered under Section 1 Property All Risks
- b) other property (including contents, engineering, contractors and computers)
- c) Business Interruption covered under Section 2 Business Interruption
- d) Book Debts

and does not apply to Class B Head of Cover

save that *Covered Loss* otherwise falling within this Exclusion b) will not be treated as excluded by Exclusion b) solely to the extent that such *Covered Loss*:

- results directly (or, solely as regards (ii) (c) below, indirectly) from fire, explosion, flood, escape of water from any tank, apparatus or pipe (including any sprinkler system), impact of aircraft or any aerial devices or articles dropped from them, impact of any sea-going or water-going vessel or of any vehicle whatsoever or of any goods or cargo carried in or on such vessel or vehicle, destruction of, damage to or movement of buildings or structures, plant or machinery other than any **Computer System**; and
- (ii) comprises
 - (a) the cost of reinstatement, replacement or repair in respect of damage to or

- destruction of *Property* insured by you; or
- (b) the amount of business interruption loss suffered directly by you by way of loss of or reduction in profits, revenue or turnover or increased cost of working as a direct result of either damage to or destruction of *Property* insured by you or as a direct result of denial, prevention or hindrance of access to or use of the *Property* insured by you by reason of an **Act of Terrorism** causing damage to other *Property* within one mile of the Property insured by you to which access is affected; or
- (c) the amount of loss caused by the cancellation, abandonment, postponement, interruption, curtailment or relocation of an event as a result of damage to or destruction of *Property* and any additional costs or charges reasonably and necessarily paid by the you to avoid or diminish such loss; and
- (iii) is not proximately caused by an **Act of Terrorism** in relation to which the relevant organisation or any persons acting on behalf of or in connection with that organisation are controlled by, acting on behalf of or part of any de jure or de facto government of any nation, country or state.
- (iv) The meaning of "*Property*" for the purposes of this Proviso shall (additionally to those exclusions in the definition of "*Property*" below and anywhere else) exclude:
 - (a) any money (including "Money" as defined in any insurance policy), currency, electronic cryptographic or virtual currency including Bitcoin or anything similar, negotiable or non- negotiable instruments, financial securities or any other financial instrument of any sort whatever; and

(b) any Data

- (v) Notwithstanding the exclusion of **Data** from **Property**, to the extent that damage to or destruction of **Property** within the meaning of sub-paragraph (ii) above indirectly results from any alteration, modification, distortion, erasure or corruption of **Data**, because the occurrence of one or more of the matters referred to in sub-paragraph (i) above results directly or indirectly from any alteration, modification, distortion erasure or corruption of **Data**, that shall not prevent cost or business interruption loss directly resulting from damage to or destruction of such **Property** and otherwise falling within sub-paragraphs (i) and (ii) above from being recoverable under this Terrorism Insurance. In no other circumstances than the previous sentence, however, will any loss or losses directly or indirectly caused by, contributed to by or arising from or occasioned by or
 - resulting from any alteration, modification, distortion, erasure or corruption of **Data** be recoverable under this Terrorism Insurance.
- (vi) For the avoidance of doubt, the burden of proof shall be on the **Insured** to prove or establish all the matters referred to in sub-paragraphs (i) to (ii) above.

Proviso to exclusion b) shall not apply in respect of any loss arising under the Class B Head of Cover

- c) Damage or consequential loss arising from such Damage to any Nuclear Installation or Nuclear Reactor and all fixtures and fittings situated thereon and attached thereto and all pipes wires cables drains or other conduits or service media of any description which are affixed or connected to or in any way serve such Nuclear Installation or Nuclear Reactor, but this Exclusion shall not exclude loss arising from Damage to other types of property arising from an Act of Terrorism occurring at the site of a Nuclear Installation or Reactor.
- d) any **Residential Property** insured in the name of a **Private Individual**

Conditions

- 1. **Insurers** will not indemnify you unless and until
 - a) HM Treasury has certified that an event or events have been an Act of Terrorism; or
 - b) a Tribunal constituted under the terms of Schedule 3 to a Retrocession Agreement between Pool Reinsurance Company Ltd and HM Treasury has determined that an event or events have been an *Act of Terrorism*
- 2. Any conditions or terms which provide for adjustments of premium based on declarations on expiry of the period of insurance shall not apply to Terrorism insurance
- 3. Any long-term agreement or undertaking applying to this Policy shall not apply to Terrorism insurance

Notification & Claims Conditions

1. Claim Notification

As conditions precedent to their right to be indemnified under this Policy the Insured:

- shall inform the **Insurer** as soon as possible, and in any event within 28 days of the receipt, awareness or discovery during the **Period of insurance** of:-
- a. any claim made against them;
- b. any notice of intention to make a claim against them;
- c. any circumstance;
- d. the discovery of reasonable cause for suspicion of dishonesty or fraud.

provided always that such notification is received by the **Insurer** before the expiry of the **Period of insurance**, or if the **Insured** renews this Policy with the **Insurer**, within 7 days after its expiry.

Such notice having been given as required in b), c) or d) above, any subsequent claim arising out of such notified matters shall be deemed to have been made during the **Period of insurance**;

- shall not, in respect of any of the matters specified in 1.1a) to 1.1d) above, admit liability, make any offer for or settle any claim, or incur any costs or expenses in connection with any such claim or circumstance, without the prior written consent of the **Insurer**; and
- 1.3 shall, as soon as practicable given the circumstances, give all such information and assistance as the Insurer may require and provide their full co-operation in the defence or settlement of any such claim.

Every letter of claim, writ, summons or process and all documents relating thereto and any other written notification of claim shall be forwarded, unanswered, to the **Insurer** immediately they are received. The **Insured** shall at all times, in addition to their obligations set out above, afford such information to and cooperate with the **Insurer** to allow the **Insurer** to be able to comply with such relevant Practice Directions and Pre-Action Protocols as may be issued and approved from time to time by the Head of Civil Justice.

2. Notifications

Any and all notifications of circumstances and claims for an indemnity pursuant to the policy of insurance shall be notified to All claims and enquiries should be addressed to:

Kennedys Claims Handling Team c/o Moorhouse Group Kennedys Law LLP 20 Fenchurch St London EC3M 3BY

Telephone: 02920 849586

Email: moorhouseclaims@kennedyslaw.com

Alternatively, if you prefer, please contact Toledo Insurance Solutions or your Broker directly

3. Conduct of claims

- 3.1 Following notification under condition 1. above the **Insurer** shall be entitled at its own expense to take over and within its sole discretion to conduct in the name of the **Insured** the defence and settlement of any such claim.
 - Nevertheless neither the **Insured** nor the **Insurer** shall be required to contest any legal proceedings unless a Kings Counsel (to be mutually agreed upon by the **Insured** and the **Insurer**) shall advise that such proceedings should be contested.
- 3.2 The **Insurer** may at any time in connection with any claim made, pay to the **Insured** the **Indemnity limit** (after deduction of any sums already paid) or any lesser sum for which, in the sole opinion of the **Insurer**, the claim can be settled and upon such payment being made the **Insurer** shall relinquish the conduct and control of and have no further liability in connection with the claim. For the avoidance of doubt the **Insurer** shall have no liability to pay **Defense costs and expenses** incurred after the date upon which such payment is made.

3.3 Waiver of subrogation against Employees

The **Insurer** shall not exercise any right of subrogation against any former or present **Employee**, unless the **Insurer** shall have made a payment brought about or contributed to by any act or omission of the **Employee** or former **Employee** which was dishonest, fraudulent or malicious or the **Employee** or former **Employee** conspired to commit or condoned any such dishonest, fraudulent or malicious act

3.4 Dishonest or Fraudulent act or omission

In the event of a loss or claim which involves the dishonest, fraudulent or malicious act or omission of any former or present **Employee** the **Insured** shall take all reasonable action (including legal proceedings) to obtain reimbursement from the **Employee** concerned (and from any **Employee** who may have conspired to commit or have condoned such act) or from the estate or legal representatives of such **Employee**. Any monies which but for such dishonest, fraudulent or malicious act or omission would be due to such **Employee** from the **Insured** or any monies held by the **Insured** for such **Employee** shall be deducted from any amount payable under this Policy

Complaints

We are dedicated to providing you with a high quality service and we want to ensure that we maintain this at all times. If you feel that we have not offered you a first class service please write and tell us and we will do our best to resolve the problem

If you have any questions or concerns about your policy you should in the first instance contact

Compliance Officer

Toledo Insurance Solutions

Barclay House

Pontygwindy Road

Caerphilly CF83 3HU

Telephone: 02920 849556

Email complaints@ToledoIS.co.uk

If you wish to make a complaint about your claim you can do so at any time by contacting:

Complaints Officer

Kennedys Claims Handling Team c/o Moorhouse Group

Kennedys Law LLP 20 Fenchurch St

London EC3M 3BY

Telephone: 02920 849586

Email: <u>moorhouseclaims@kennedyslaw.com</u>

The Financial Ombudsman Service (FOS)

Should you be dissatisfied with the way in which your complaint has been handled, the outcome of your complaint or you have not received a final response to your complaint within eight (8) weeks, you may have the right to refer your complaint to the Financial Ombudsman Service. The Financial Ombudsman Service is an independent service in the UK for settling disputes between consumers and businesses providing financial services. Contacting the Financial Ombudsman Service does not affect your right to take legal action.

The FOS's contact details are as follows:

Financial Ombudsman Service Exchange Tower London E14 9SR

Email: complaint.info@financial-ombudsman.org.uk

Telephone: +44 (0)800 023 4567

Website: <u>www.financial-ombudsman.org.uk</u>

Please note you will need to refer your complaints to the Financial Ombudsman Service within six (6) months of receiving our final response.

The Financial Services Compensation Team

Accelerant Insurance UK Limited is covered by the Financial Services Compensation Scheme. You may be entitled to compensation from the Financial Services Compensation Scheme in the unlikely event that Accelerant Insurance UK Limited is unable to meet its obligations to You under Your policy. This will depend on the type of insurance and the circumstances of the claim. The service provided by the Financial Services Compensation Scheme is free and impartial.

Further information about the Scheme is available from the Financial Services Compensation Scheme (10th Floor, Beaufort House, 15 St Botolph Street, London EC3A 7QU) and on their website: www.fscs.org.uk



Data Protection Notice

Toledo Insurance Solutions respects your right to privacy. In our Privacy Policy (available at https://ToledolS.co.uk/privacy-notice we explain who we are, how we collect, share and use personal information about you, and how you can exercise your privacy rights. If you have any questions or concerns about our use of your personal information, then please contact via email to compliance@ToledolS.co.uk or in writing to The Data Protection Officer, Toledo Insurance Solutions, Barclay House, 2-3 Sir Alfred Owen Way, Caerphilly, CF83 3HU

We may collect your personal information such as name, email address, postal address, telephone number, gender and date of birth. We need the personal information to enter into and perform a contract with you. We retain personal information we collect from you where we have an ongoing legitimate business need to do so (please note that reference to "you" or "your" herein encompasses non-exhaustively "you, your company, employees and / or customers").

We may disclose your personal information to:

- our group companies;
- third party services providers and partners who provide data processing services to us or who otherwise process personal information for purposes that are described in our Privacy Policy or notified to you when we collect your personal information;
- any competent law enforcement body, regulatory, government agency, court or other third party where we believe disclosure is necessary (i) as a matter of applicable law or regulation, (ii) to exercise, establish or defend our legal rights, or (iii) to protect your interests or those of any other person;
- a potential buyer (and its agents and advisers) in connection with any proposed purchase, merger or
 acquisition of any part of our business, provided that we inform the buyer it must use your personal
 information only for the purposes disclosed in our Privacy Policy; or
- any other person with your consent to the disclosure.

Your personal information may be transferred to, and processed in, countries other than the country in which you are resident. These countries may have data protection laws that are different to the laws of your country. We transfer data within the Toledo Insurance Solutions group of companies by virtue of our Intra Group Data Transfer Agreement, which includes Standard Contractual Clauses.

We use appropriate technical and organisational measures to protect the personal information that we collect and process about you. The measures we use are designed to provide a level of security appropriate to the risk of processing your personal information.

You are entitled to know what data is held on you and to make what is referred to as a **Data Subject Access Request** ('DSAR'). You are also entitled to request that your data be **corrected** in order that we hold accurate records. In certain circumstances, you have other data protection rights such as that of **requesting deletion**, **objecting to processing**, **restricting processing** and in some cases **requesting portability**. Further information on your rights is included in our Privacy Policy.

You can **opt-out of marketing communications** we send you at any time. You can exercise this right by clicking on the "unsubscribe" or "opt-out" link in the marketing e-mails we send you. Similarly, if we have collected and processed your personal information with your consent, then you can **withdraw your consent** at any time. Withdrawing your consent will not affect the lawfulness of any processing we conducted prior to your withdrawal, nor will it affect processing of your personal information conducted in reliance on lawful processing grounds other than consent. You have the **right to complain to a data protection authority** about our collection and use of your personal information